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Year 2020 saw exceptional circumstances, starting with the passing of the 
late His Majesty Sultan Qaboos bin Said - may Almighty rest his soul in 
eternal peace and the subsequent 40 days of Mourning. This was followed 
by a large drop in oil price and the COVID-19 pandemic which all lead 
to unexpected and material macroeconomic challenges, both domestically 
and internationally.

Despite a challenging backdrop, the Company reacted quickly and was 
proactive in preparing for the different scenarios, both to reinforce our 
company’s strength and resilience, and to emerge stronger.

We focused on caring for the health, safety and well-being of our employees, 
and beyond that, on supporting our customers, partners and wider society 
through various initiatives.

We also implemented an effective business continuity plan to ensure the 
delivery of superior products and services to our customers continued 
throughout the pandemic and to support essential mobility across the 
country.

We also took steps to strengthen financial resilience, operational efficiency 
and conservation of resources, without any compromise on our core 
commitments to safety, or ethics and compliance.

Through the challenges Shell Oman remains focused on the interests of all 
our people, shareholders and external stakeholders, while continuing to 
serve our customers across Oman and adding in country value.

www.shelloman.com.om

@oman_shell

oman_shell
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to present the Directors’ 
Annual Report for Shell Oman Marketing Company SAOG for the year 
ended December 31, 2020.

SUMMARY FINANCIALS

In OMR’000 Quarter 12 Months
Q4/20 Q4/19 % 2020 2019 %

Revenue 90,130 134,936 (33.2%) 367,090 524,826 (30.05%)
Gross profit 7,490 9,177 (18.4%) 27,235 36,508 (25.40%)
Add: Other income 1,238 1,744 (29.0%) 4,927 6,582 (25.14%)
Less: Selling, 
distribution and 
administrative 
expenses (6,957) (7,389) (5.8%) (27,110) (28,444) (4.69%)
Less: Financing and 
taxation (629) (904) (30.4%) (2,468) (3,659) (32.55%)
Profit and 
comprehensive 
income 1,142 2,628 (56.5%) 2,584 10,987 (76.48%)

¢ Full-year Revenues were OMR 367 million, lower than the same 
period last year due to the continued impact of COVID-19 on sales 
volumes.  

¢ Full-year Gross Profit was OMR 27.2 million, lower than the same period 
last year mainly due to reduction in sales volumes across all businesses 
during the pandemic and the decline in petroleum product prices which 
account for a stock loss of OMR 495 K.

¢ Profit and Comprehensive Income for the year was OMR 2.584 

DIRECTORS’ 
REPORT

We would 
like to reaffirm our 
commitment as part 
of this nation to 
continue to stand 
shoulder to shoulder 
with our partners and 
stakeholders in the 
Sultanate.

“

”
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million, lower than the same period 
last year, mainly due to the drop in 
Gross Profit. 

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
Retail Business remains the largest 
segment of the Company. Despite a 
downward impact on volumes as a 
result of COVID-19 mobility restrictions 
and limited commercial activities 
throughout the year, the  business 
remained resilient. The focus has 
been the safety of people, including 
customers and frontliners. Moreover, 
the business continued to introduce 
and adopt best practices to minimise 
the spread of COVID-19; reaffirming 
the ‘Commitment for Care’ towards our 
customers and the community at large. 

The Company continued the journey of 
offering differentiated fuel by making 
Shell V-Power available for the customers 
across Oman.

In Non-Fuel Retail (NFR), the business 
continued to expand the range of 
products and services to  customers. The 
business expanded the new generation 
of Shell Select experience in Oman with 
multiple convenience stores introduced 
during the year in collaboration with 
local Omani SMEs. Furthermore, the 
experience was enhanced with the 
launch of the digital ordering channel 
by Shell Select in partnership with local 
and regional providers. The Company 
has also extended the coffee experience 
through alliance agreements with 

international and Omani café brands. 
The growth also continued in the car 
care segment with many new car wash 
and oil change facilities opened during 
the year, providing customers with an 
integrated Retail experience. 

Fleet Solutions Business remained 
challenging as customers faced the 
impact of COVID-19 and economic 
challenges which affected volumes. The 
focus remained on adapting to the new 
realities and support customers with 
the acceleration of our digitalisation 
journey, automation and addressing 
evolving customer needs. In addition, 
the business continued to leverage the 
Cards Management System to enable a 
superior experience for fleets customers.

OMR 750,000 to purchase 
COVID-19 testing kits and 
OMR 

 300,000  
worth of fuel 
to support 
Ministry of 
Health.

Ensuring our 
financial 
resilience and 
accelerating 
the digital 
transformation

2 Shell Select Stores commissioned 
during the lockdown. While online 
delivery was started 
for our Shell 
Select Store offers, 
further enhancing 
the customer 
experience.
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Commercial Fuels Business 
environment remained challenging 
due to the macroeconomic impacts. 
However, the focus continued primarily 
on new opportunities, operational 
excellence and quality service to retain 
key customers. 

Marine Business volumes had been 
impacted as a result of COVID-19 
restrictions, with limited activity due 
to cancellation of several scheduled 
commercial and cruise vessels at key 
ports. However, the Company continued 
to serve local Marine customers 
without disruption, while adhereing 
to the highest HSSE and operational 
excellence standards. 

Lubricants Business: The Lubricants 
Business was similarly hit by challenges 
associated with the COVID-19 
pandemic, particularly in the automotive 
space, but saw some market recovery 
beginning in December 2020 due to the 
opening of commercial activities as per 
the relevant authorities’ announcements. 
The business continued to maintain 
close relationships with key customers 
in Oil / Gas / Power / Government 
and Construction sectors. It continued 
to supply quality Shell lubricants from 
its ISO 9001-certified Shell lubricant 
blending plant at Mina Al Fahal. In 
addition, the business focused on 
reinforcing its market leadership by 
maintaining a strong customer base, 
seeking new accounts, expanding new 
revenue streams in different sectors and 
enhancing its product portfolio. The 
Company continued to work closely with 
partners and distributors to observe and 
adapt to the new realities and explore 
various digital platforms available in the 
sector to serve customers and maintain 
a competitive advantage in the market. 
The business was recognised for its 
‘Excellence in Industry Partnership with 
Construction & Infrastructure Sector’ at 
the ‘Dossier Construction’s Infrastructure 
Awards & Summit’ 2020. 

Aviation Business: Original plans 

projected substantial growth in the 
Aviation sector, but the sector had 
been one of the hardest hit by the 
COVID-19 pandemic. Both domestic 
and international travel declined 
significantly since March 2020. 
While the external environment was 
challenging, the Aviation business 
won new contracts in the cargo sector 
and retained key contracts at Muscat 
International Airport. In addition, a new 
airport entry was achieved in 2020 
as the business successfully secured 
a concession agreement with Oman 
Airports to operate Duqm Airport, a 
testament to the Company‘s commitment 
to operational excellence at the fuel 
farm of both Muscat and Salalah 
International Airports. The Company 
continued operating at PDO’s oil fields. 

PROPOSED DIVIDEND
In light of the economic impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic and the parallel 
challenges in the market, the Board 
of Directors has decided to propose 
to the shareholders that no Dividend 
be distributed for the year ended 
December 31, 2020. Whilst coming to 
this decision, the Board has considered 
the net income, financial commitments 
and cash generation of the Company, 
which was materially reduced by the 
sharp fall in sales demand caused by 
the pandemic. Although the Company 
has taken decisive steps to improve 
efficiency and reduce cash spend as a 
response to these challenges, it remains 

unclear as to how long both domestic 
and global conditions will take to fully 
recover. As a result, and after assessing 
various scenarios and current money 
market liquidity, priority has been 
placed on financial resilience and 
ensuring the long term financial strength 
and sustainability of the Company. 
The Board’s proposal not to distribute 
a Dividend is fundamental to ensuring 
the Company has sufficient financial 
flexibility and balance sheet strength to 
manage potential uncertainty of 2021. 
Considerations have also been taken 
to balance the need to maintain capital 
investment to ensure the longer-term 
profitability and competitive position 
of the Company when full economic 
recovery returns. 

The Board of Directors remains 
committed to the objective of growing 
long term shareholder value. The 
position on dividend payment for 
2020 has resulted from unprecedented 
economic circumstances and does not 
represent a structural change in Shell 
Oman Marketing Company’s dividend 
approach.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK
2020 was a year of unprecedented 
challenges driven by decline in oil prices 
and the COVID-19 pandemic. From 
an industry perspective, this translated 
into a sharp decline in demand largely 
resulting from decreased business 
activity and the impact of the restrictions 
imposed to reduce the spread of the 
disease. At the same time, 2020 
saw the Company successfully adapt 
operations rapidly to the changing 
business environment. Much of the 
uncertainty of 2020 is expected to 
continue into 2021, with the speed of 
economic recovery, both domestically 
and globally remaining unclear. As a 
result, the Company is positioning to 
be able to both weather a challenging 
economic backdrop while continuing to 
invest in growth opportunities to ensure 
the Company retains its competitive 

The Company has 
successfully managed 
the evolving risks 
related to COVID-19 
with an effective 
business continuity 
plan. 

“

”
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position and captures the market’s 
return should the external environment 
recovery accelerate.

CORPORATE SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY (CSR)
Shell Oman Marketing Company is 
committed to continue working in line 
with its CSR strategy that focuses on 
Road Safety, Community & Enterprise 
Development and the Environment. 
Emphasis is put on collaborating with 
key partners and stakeholders in the 
private and government sectors towards 
achieving the goals of Vision Oman 
2040. The Company will focus its efforts 
and align its goals to creating sustainable 
value for society and the country which 
is meant to lead to improving business 
environment, supporting economic 
growth, diversifying sources of 
revenues, and stimulating investments in 
the country while reducing impact of its 
operations.

HEALTH, SAFETY, SECURITY 
AND ENVIRONMENT
In 2020, the Company maintained 
an excellent HSSE performance and 
continued its Goal Zero journey with 
no harm and no leaks. The focus in 
2020 was to maintain and improve the 
previous year’s health, safety, security 
and environmental achievement of no 
harm and zero recordable Lost Time 
Injury (LTI) and zero leaks. Moreover, 
the Company  continued to focus on 
strengthening its Safety Behaviour 
Culture by encouraging self-care 
awareness, caring for others and 
fostering a timely intervention mindset, 
which was achieved through several 
initiatives, including Safety Day. 

The Company has successfully managed 
the evolving risks related to COVID-19 
with an effective business continuity plan. 
The collaboration and strict adherence to 
all instructions from authorities to reduce 
the risk of COVID-19 led to continuing 
operation of the business during the 
unprecedented year, whilst maintaining 

a high standard of safety throughout. 
The Company has also continued using 
its social media channels and Shell 
Service Stations to raise awareness on 
COVID-19 and engage the general 
public with Health and Safety messages. 
Shell Oman remains vigilant, with 
a high focus on the culture of safety 
through caring for others and for the 
environment, addressing potential 
risks, as well as encouraging the Safety 
Intervention mindset. 

RISK AND CONCERNS
The speed of economic recovery from 
the COVID-19 pandemic remains a 
watch point for Company as does the 
overall availability of liquidity in the 
cash market. As a result, the Company 
remains balanced in ensuring a 
resilient balance sheet, while cautiously 
continuing with selective investments.

The Company’s forward investment 
and business plan assumes stability in 
the fixed margin rates in the dominant 
retail segment, and this is dependent 
on the authorities. The Company tests 
investments against various scenarios, 
including changing price structures, 
forecasted demand and the evolving 
economic environment to ensure we 
continue to take robust investment 
decisions concerning the shareholders’ 
available funds.

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS
The Board of Directors recognises that 
good corporate governance results 
from strong internal controls. The Board 
affirms its overall responsibility for 
reviewing the adequacy and the integrity 
of the Company’s internal control and 
management information systems, 
including systems for compliance with 
applicable laws. There was no material 
loss reported during 2020 as a result 
of weaknesses in internal controls. The 
management of the Company continues 
to take measures to strengthen the 
overall internal control environment.

BOARD CHANGES
The Shareholders have elected Richard Jory 
as the eleventh Director in the AGM held 
in March 2020. In addition, Mooi Fung 
Farm has replaced Mazhar Ud Deen as a 
nominee Director of juristic shareholder BV 
Petroleum Assurantie Maatschappij with 
effect from 31 March 2020. 

IN APPRECIATION
We, in Shell Oman Marketing Company, 
would like to reaffirm our commitment as 
part of this nation to continue to stand 
shoulder to shoulder with our partners 
and stakeholders in the Sultanate and 
work to power its progress together and 
continue building on its achievements. 
We will continue to serve Oman and 
the people under the leadership of His 
Majesty Sultan Haitham Bin Tarik and to 
support his vision for the Sultanate. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors, 
I would like to express my sincere 
thanks to our stakeholders in the public 
and private sectors including our 
shareholders, the management, our 
employees, customers, and contractors 
for their support, loyalty, perseverance, 
dedication and effort in both building 
opportunities and facing the challenges 
of the rapidly changing business 
environment. The Board of Directors 
remains committed to pursuing all 
opportunities with a view to maintaining 
the Company’s expansion while 
enhancing shareholders’ value. We are 
grateful for your constant support as we 
secure growth and prosperity for the 
Company.  

  

Walid Hadi
Chairman, 
Shell Oman Marketing Company SAOG

Muscat, February 8, 2021

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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The safety and wellbeing of our people has always been the top 
priority at Shell Oman; but never more so than now. Our focus is on 
mitigating risks as we continue to serve our customers. 

We initiated a number of safety protocols at our offices, retail sites 
and other touch-points. ‘Work from home’ instituted for non-essential 
office staff. A nationwide ‘#Stay_Home’ campaign was launched 
across Shell Service Stations and on multiple digital platforms in 
collaboration with the Ministry of Health (MoH) to urge the public to 
stop the spread of COVID-19 in the community.

Shell in Oman contributed over OMR 1 million in funds and 
material support to the MoH’s frontline effort to fight the pandemic.
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AUDITOR’S REPORT ON 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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In accordance with the Capital Market 
Authority (“CMA”) guidelines, we 
are pleased to present the Corporate 
Governance Report of Shell Oman 
Marketing Company SAOG (“the 
Company”) for the year ended 31 
December 2020. The Company’s 
external auditors, Ernst & Young LLC 
(“EY”) has issued a separate Factual 
Findings Report on the Company’s 
Corporate Governance Report for the 
year ended 31 December 2020. 

Company’s Philosophy
Corporate Governance at Shell Oman 
Marketing Company SAOG envisages 
commitment of the Company towards the 
attainment of high levels of transparency, 
accountability and business propriety 
with the ultimate objective of increasing 
long term shareholder value, keeping in 
view the needs and interests of all other 
stakeholders. 

Shell Oman Marketing Company SAOG 
is committed to adopting the best global 
practices of Corporate Governance and 
fully supports the code of Corporate 
Governance issued by the CMA. This 
Report has been prepared pursuant 
to the CMA’s circular no. E/4/2015, 
dated 22 July 2015 and its application 

of the Corporate Governance practices 
in accordance with amendments to 
CMA’s Code of Corporate Governance 
issued under circular no. E/10/2016 
dated 1 December 2016 (collectively 
the “Code”), and CMA’s resolution 
10/2018 issued on 27 December 2018 
regarding the regulations of forming 
Audit Committee and appointing 
Internal Auditor and Legal Advisor in 
public joint stock companies.

Board of Directors
The Board comprises entirely of Non-
Executive Directors. The present 
strength of the Board is eleven Directors 
comprising of six Shell-nominated 
Non-Independent Directors and five 
Independent Directors. The Chairman and 
Directors are accomplished professionals 
and experts in their respective corporate 
fields. The existing composition ensures 
that the Board is adequately balanced in 
terms of expertise and backgrounds to 
enable proper direction and steer on the 
Company’s activities. 

The Board is composed of Directors 
on personal capacity as well as ones 
representing shareholding companies. 
The Shareholder Directors represent 
juristic persons owning at least 1,000 

shares in the Company. 

Functions of the Board
The Company in general complies with 
the functions of the Board as per the 
Code.  With respect to the selection of 
the key executives, a selection process 
applied within the Shell Group is 
used with steer and involvement of the 
Board’s Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee as appropriate and agreed 
with the Board. The same applies for 
evaluation of staff where a comprehensive 
performance and appraisal system of the 
Shell Group is implemented.

Process of Nomination of 
Directors
The last election was carried out in the 
ordinary general meeting in March 
2018, ten Directors have been elected 
for a period of three years. Juristic 
persons have nominated eight Directors. 
There are arrangements for the filling 
of vacancies by the Board itself on a 
temporary basis and for the appointment 
of substitutes. In compliance with the 
Commercial Companies Law (CCL) 
published in February 2019 following 
the Royal Decree 18/2019, mandating 
the Board to be comprised of an 
uneven number, the Board composition 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Shell Oman Extraordinary General Meeting and Annual General Meeting in March 2020. 
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Entity Represented by Non-Independent Directors
Non-Independent Director Entity Represented

Walid Hadi Shell Petroleum NV, The Netherlands 
Zain Hak Shell Gas BV, The Netherlands (From 1st September 2019)
Mazhar Ud-Deen BV Petroleum Assurantie Maatschappij, The Netherlands (Up to 31st  March 2020)
Mooi-Fung Farm BV Petroleum Assurantie Maatschappij, The Netherlands (From 31st March 2020)
Faisal Waheed B.V. Dordtsche Petroleum Maatschappij,  The Netherlands
Amr Adel Shell Overseas Investment BV, The Netherlands

Richard Jory is a Non-Independent Director and representing himself.

Entity Represented by Independent Directors
Independent Director Entity Represented

Shabib Mohammed Al-Darmaki Civil Service Employees Pension Fund, Oman

Ishaq Zayed Khalifa Al-Mawali Public Authority for Social Insurance (PASI), Oman

Juma Abdullah Khalfan Al-Khamisi Ministry of Defence – Pension Fund, Oman

Ghalib Fawzy Salim Al Busaidi and Sheikh Faisal Al Hashar are Independent Directors and represent themselves.

During the year 2020, the Company held five Board meetings.  The dates are 27 January, 27April, 29 July, 25 October, and 
1 December. The intervals between the meetings are in line with the CCL required interval of a maximum of 120 days between 
each meeting.  

Director’s Attendance Record and Directorships held during the Financial Year 2020

Name of Director Position
Board 

meetings 
attended

Whether 
attended 
last AGM

Directorship in other SAOG 
Companies

Walid Hadi Chairman, Board of Directors 4 Yes None
Shabib Mohammed Al Darmaki Independent Director 5 Yes Omani Qatari Telecommunications 

Company SAOG
Oman National Investment 
Development Co SAOC - Chairman

Sheikh Faisal Al Hashar Independent Director 5 Yes Rural Areas Electricity Company SAOC
Oman Enterprises Company 
International LLC - Director 
Urbaser LLC
Al Raudha Quarries Company LLC - Director

Ghalib Fawzy Salim Al Busaidi Independent Director 5 Yes None
Zain Hak Non-Independent Director 5 No None
Mazhar Ud-Deen Non-Independent Director 

(Up to 31st March 2020)
0 No None

Mooi-Fung Farm Non-Independent Director 
(From 31st March 2020)

3 N/A None

Faisal Waheed Non-Independent Director 5 No None
Amr Adel Non-Independent Director 3 No None
Juma Abdullah Khalfan Al-Khamisi Independent Director 5 Yes Oman Flour Mills Co SAOG

Al Bandar Development SAOC - Director
Ishaq Zayed Khalifa Al-Mawali Independent Director 5 Yes National Gas Company SAOG

Bank Nizwa
Richard Jory Non-Independent Director 

(From 10th March 2020)
4 No None

changed from ten Directors to eleven, 
the eleventh position was filled in 
the AGM held in March 2020. The 

Company has an induction programme 
for Directors, which covers the wider 
business environment, Company’s 

specific businesses as well as specific 
corporate governance elements (e.g. 
Code of Conduct and confidentiality)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The Board of Directors manages and 
supervises the business and affairs of 
the Company in a stewardship role. The 
day-to-day management is delegated 
to the Executive Management of the 
Company. Any responsibilities that have 
not been delegated to the Management 
or to a Committee of the Board remain 
with the Board.

In order to facilitate proper governance, 
the following information amongst 
others is provided to the Board:

n Review of operating plans of business, 
capital budgets and updates;

n Quarterly/annual results of the 
Company and its business segments;

n Quarterly performance on Health 
Safety Security and Environment 
(HSSE);

n Reports of fatal, serious accidents or 
dangerous occurrences;

n Directors fees and remuneration;

n Minutes of the subcommittees of the 
Board;

n Material default in financial 
obligations to or by the Company;

n Issues involving possible public or 
product liability claims of substantial 
nature;

n Any significant industry related 
problems;

n Senior Management changes;

n Policies / procedures as deemed 
important to place before the Board; 

n Material notices of penalties and 
causes, 

n Non-compliance with any regulatory 
requirements; and

n Related party transactions.

As required by the Code, the Board 
of Directors have adopted Internal 
Regulations - these include adoption 
of principles, policies, procedures 
and practices for doing business and 
conducting affairs that are commonly 
used in the Shell Group. As part of this, 
the Shell Group Statement of General 
Business Principles, HSSE and Code 
of Conduct Policies are in place. The 
Board in general is informed of any 
changes as advised by the Shell Group. 

The Board has adopted a specific 
1 Shareholder, Civil Service Employees Pension Fund, has advised that its representative, Mr. Al-Darmaki, can be paid a maximum of RO 5,000 as director’s Annual remuneration, and the 

balance, if any, should be paid to the Fund. However, sitting fees shall be paid in full to the Director.

Related Party Transaction procedure to 
ensure compliance with the CCL and 
Code of Corporate Governance and 
controls are applied in devising the 
process to manage such transactions. 

Company Secretary
The Board Secretary is Lamees Al 
Lawati. She has held the role as Board 
Secretary since December 2015.  She 
works with the Chairman and the Board 
in planning and executing the Board 
meetings, ensuring compliance with 
rules and regulations, recording minutes 
of every Board meeting whereby 
decisions are recorded and action items 
are identified.

Legal Advisor 
The Legal Counsel is Nisreen Al-
Khambshi. She has held the role since 
February 2018. Nisreen is a lawyer, 
with 14 years of professional experience 
in the field, including 5 years in the Oil 
and Gas sector. 

Remuneration Matters
Each Non-Executive Director is awarded 
OMR 800 as a sitting fee for every 
Board meeting and Annual General 
Meeting attended, and RO 400 for 
every Audit Committee and Nomination 
& Remuneration Committee meeting 
attended. Annual remuneration is 
awarded as long as the sum of sitting 
fees does not exceed OMR 10,000 and 
the total remuneration does not exceed 
OMR 17,000 per Director. The total 
sittings fees and remuneration for year 
ended December 31, 2020 was OMR 
84,200

Details of Directors’ 
Remuneration
The details of Director’s remuneration for 
the year 2020 is as follows:

Director’s Remuneration
Annual 

Remuneration 
(OMR)

Sitting 
Fees 

(OMR)

Grand 
Total (OMR)

Chairman, Board of Directors 0 0 0

Board Members 51,0001 33,200 84,200

Grand Total 51,000 33,200 84,200

Effective June 2020, Shell Board of 
Directors waved their sitting fees and 
remuneration.

The total remuneration such as salaries, 
benefits, bonuses, stock options, pension 
contributions & perquisites paid to the 
top five officers of the Company was 
OMR 721,039 in 2020. 

Audit Committee of the Board
The Audit Committee was reconstituted 
by the Board in 2018 in which 
they appointed three Independent 
Directors and one Non-Independent 
Director. Shabib Al-Darmaki who is an 
Independent Director is the Committee’s 
Chairman. The committee held five 
meetings during 2020, all of which had 
been minuted. The dates of the meetings 
were 27 January, 27 April, 27 July and 
25 October and 21 December.

The audit charter approved by the Board 
includes the main responsibilities of the 
Audit Committee as follows:

n Reviewing the annual audited financial 
statements and the Auditors’ Report on 
the statements prior to submission to 
the Board for approval;

n Reviewing and approving the interim 
financial statements prior to public 
release and filing;

n Reviewing the scope of external and 
internal audits;

n Reviewing and discussing accounting 
and reporting policies and changes in 
accounting principles;

n Assessing the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control systems 
and procedures, and the process for 
identifying principal business risks;

n Reviewing compliance with the Code 
of Conduct;

n Reviewing legal matters with counsel;
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n Reviewing Directors’ and officers’ 
expenses and related party 
transactions; and

n Meeting with the internal and 
external auditors independently of 
Management of the Company.

Attendance record of the Audit 
Committee Members
Name of 
Director

No. of 
meetings

Meetings 
attended

Shabib 
Mohammed 
Al-Darmaki

5 5

Juma Abdullah 
Khalfan 
Al-Khamisi 

5 4

Faisal Waheed 5 5

Ishaq Zayed 
Khalifa Al-Mawali

5 5

Murad Al Bulushi is the Chief Internal 
Auditor and Audit Committee 
Secretary reporting to the Audit 
Committee since March 2020. He is a 
Certified Internal Auditor with over 16 
years of experience and knowledge in 
the field of Internal Audit across both 
the public and private sector companies 
in Oman such as Central Bank of 
Oman, Bank Sohar, Alizz Islamic Bank, 

Standard Chartered Bank, and Oman 
Gas Company.

Along with a MBA from Griffith University 
Australia, Murad is a Certified Fraud 
Examiner (CFE), a Certified Internal 
Auditor (CIA), a Certified Information 
Systems Auditor (CISA), and holds 
the Certification in Risk Management 
Assurance (CRMA). He also serves as a 
board member of Association of Fraud 
Examiners, Oman Chapter.

External Quality Assurance 
Review of the Internal Audit 
Department
Pursuant to CMA’s decision no. 
10/2018, the Board on the 
recommendation of the Board Audit 
Committee appointed ‘Protiviti Oman’ 
in 2020, to perform an external quality 
assurance review of the Internal Audit 
Department. Their report was submitted 
to the Board. 

In line with the International Professional 
Practices framework promulgated by the 
Institute of Internal Auditors, the Internal 
Audit activity was assessed as being 
Partially Compliant with these standards. 
The Board Audit Committee has initiated 
actions to make the Internal Audit fully 
compliant with the IIA Standards.

Audit and Internal Control
In consultation with the Audit Committee, 
the Board of Directors recommended 
the appointment of external auditors 
to the Annual General Meeting. The 
shareholders have, therefore, appointed 
EY as the external auditors for the 
financial year 2020.   

In accordance with the Corporate 
Governance Code, the services of EY 
are not used where a conflict of interest 
might occur. The Audit Committee has 
reviewed, on behalf of the Board, the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal 
controls by meeting the internal auditor, 
reviewing the internal audit reports 
and recommendations and meeting the 
external auditor, reviewing the audit 
findings report and the Management 
letter. The Audit Committee and the 
Board are pleased to inform the 
shareholders that, in their opinion, an 
adequate and effective internal control 
system is in place. 

Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee (NRC)
NRCs key responsibilities include:

n Establishing a remuneration & 
incentive policy for Directors and 
Executive Management;

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Dr. Mohammed Al Balushi, CEO, wins the Exemplary Leadership Award in OER Business Summit 2020. (In the picture: Essam Al Busaidi, HR & Administration 
Manager, receives the award on his behalf from HE Talal Al Rahbi, Deputy Secretary General of Supreme Council for Planning)
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n Defining bonus policy & scorecard 
that establishes the basis for bonus 
payment to Executive Management;

n Monitor the structure and level 
of remuneration for Executive 
Management;

n Support the process for appointment 
of skilled persons to the Board of 
Directors;

n Succession Planning for Directors and 
Executive Management;

n Assist in selecting highly skilled 
personnel to fill Executive Management 
positions;

The NRC operates within its terms 
of reference issued by the Board of 
Directors.   

Attendance record of the NRC 
Members

Name of 
Director

No. of 
meetings

Meetings 
attended

Ghalib Fawzy 
Salim Al Busaidi 
(Committee 
Chairman)

2 2

Sheikh Faisal 
Al Hashar 

2 2

Walid Hadi 2 1

Zain Hak 2 2

Annual General Meeting
The Company’s Annual Report contains 
written clarifications on each item on the 
agenda of the Annual General Meeting 
so that shareholders are suitably briefed 
on matters that are to be discussed to 
enable their effective participation 
thereat. The Directors encourage 
shareholders to attend and participate 
in the Annual General Meeting. 
Questions posed are, where possible, 
answered in detail either at the Annual 
General Meeting itself or thereafter. 
Shareholders are welcome to raise 
queries by contacting the Company at 
any time throughout the year and not 
just at the Annual General Meeting. 

Means of Communication 
with the Shareholders and 
Investors
The Company has its own website 
and all vital information relating to the 

Share Price Relative Performance

20202016 2017 2018 2019

Ja
n

M
a
r

Ju
n

Se
p

D
ec

Ja
n

M
a
r

Ju
n

Se
p

D
ec

Ja
n

M
a
r

Ju
n

Se
p

D
ec

Ja
n

M
a
r

Ju
n

Se
p

D
ec

Ja
n

M
a
r

Ju
n

Se
p

D
ec

SOM Index MSM Index
120

100

80

60

40

20

0

Performance in Comparison to the Broad-Based Index of the 
MSM 

Company and its performance, including 
quarterly results, official press releases, 
annual reports and governance-related 
policies and procedures are posted on 
the website for all interested parties. The 
Company’s website is www.shelloman.
com.om

Financial Reporting
The Company presents quarterly public 
financial announcements that include 
details of the Company’s business 
performance and current issues and 
concerns. As per legal requirements and 
policy, quarterly and annual results of 
Company’s performance are published 
in the leading newspapers in both Arabic 
and English. The Directors review these 
announcements at their Board Meetings 
prior to publication to ensure that 
they are accurate and present a clear 
assessment of the Company’s affairs.

Further, the Company entertains specific 
meetings with analysts and shareholders, 
upon request, as appropriate. 

Dividend Policy
The Company’s dividend policy is to 
remit the optimum amount of profit, in 
any operating year, to shareholders. 
Several factors will be considered 
whilst making this decision such as 
future investment plans, working capital 
requirements, access to liquidity, and 
other constraints. If, in accordance with 

the business plans, excess funds and 
profits are available, the Company 
would consider payment of an interim 
dividend. In line with this policy and 
as a result of the unprecedented effects 
which the COVID-19 pandemic has 
had on industry sales demand, cash 
generation, and market liquidity, the 
Board of Directors has decided to 
propose to the shareholders that no 
Dividend be distributed for the year 
ended December 31, 2020

Market Price Data
Monthly high / low share price data for 
the financial year 2020

Month 2020 High Low Volume

January 1.185 1.145 27,141 

February 1.185 1.080 439,695 

March 1.100 1.095 617,401 

April 1.100 0.992 3,065 

May 0.880 0.880 33,225 

June 0.880 0.840 58,664 

July 0.840 0.820 22,747 

August 0.860 0.800 104,315 

September 0.916 0.824 139,919 

October 1.000 0.900 50,375 

November 1.100 1.000 5,730 

December 0.996 0.920 7,384 
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Distribution of Shareholding
The Shell Group holds, through 5 wholly owned Shell subsidiaries, 49% of the 
shares, whereas 51% of the shares are held by other investors and traded in 
the Muscat Securities Market. In line with the Commercial Companies Law and 
the Company’s Articles of Association, 5,000,000 shares of the Company have 
a preferential characteristic, in that they are multi-vote shares. The Shell Group 
owning those multi-vote shares thereby is able to cast 54,000,000 votes at the 
ordinary general meeting. This will not itself enable them to control an Extraordinary 
General Meeting of the Company.

Major Shareholders (as on December 31, 2020)

Shareholder Name No. of shares held Shareholding %

B.V. Dordtsche Petroleum 
Maatschappij

18,700,000 18.70

Shell Overseas Investment BV 20,000,000 20.00

Shell Petroleum NV 10,100,000 10.10

Civil Service Employees Pension 
Fund

9,929,892 9.93

Public Authority For Social 
Insurance

8,050,662 8.05

Details of Non-Compliance by the Company
There have been no instances of non-compliance on any matter relating to the 
Commercial Companies Law No. 18/2019 of the Sultanate of Oman, as amended, 
the Code, CMA regulations or the MSM listing agreements. 

Professional Profile of the Statutory Auditor
The shareholders of the Company appointed EY as the Company’s auditors for the 
year 2020. EY will be auditing the Company for the third consecutive financial year.

EY is a global leader in assurance, tax, transaction and advisory services. EY is 
committed to doing its part in building a better working world. The insights and 
quality services which EY delivers help build trust and confidence in the capital 
markets and in economies the world over. 

The MENA practice of EY has been operating in the region since 1923 and 
employs over 7,000 professionals. EY has been operating in Oman since 1974 
and is a leading professional services firm in the country. EY MENA forms part 
of EY’s EMEIA practice, with over 4,720 partners and approximately 127,444 
professionals. Globally, EY operates in more than 150 countries and employs 
334,012 professionals in 700 offices. Please visit ey.com for more information 
about EY.

During the year 2020, EY billed an amount of OMR 17,000 towards professional 
services rendered to the Company.

Acknowledgement by Board of Directors
The Directors are required by the Commercial Companies Law No. 18/2019 to 
prepare financial statements for each financial year which have been prepared in 
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) to fairly 
reflect the financial position of the Company and its financial performance during 
the relevant financial period.

In preparing the financial statements, 
the Directors have:

n Selected suitable accounting policies 
and applied them consistently;

n Made judgments and estimates that 
are reasonable and prudent;

n Ensured that all applicable accounting 
standards have been followed; and

n Prepared financial statements on the 
going concern basis as the Directors 
have a reasonable expectation, 
having made enquiries, that the 
Company have adequate resources 
to continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future.

The Directors have responsibility 
towards ensuring that the Company 
keep accounting records which disclose, 
with reasonable accuracy, the financial 
position of the Company and which 
enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Commercial 
Companies Law No. 18/2019

The Board affirms its overall responsibility 
for the Company’s systems of internal 
controls and risk management, and for 
reviewing the adequacy and integrity 
of those systems. It should be noted, 
however, that such systems are designed 
to manage rather than eliminate the risk 
of failure to achieve business objectives. 
In addition, it should be noted that any 
system can provide only reasonable, 
and not absolute, assurance against 
material misstatement or loss.

Walid Hadi
Chairman, Board of Directors

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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At Shell Oman, we see effective business continuity as our 
ability to continue fuelling essential mobility and meeting the 
energy needs of the country. 

The capacity to ensure the uninterrupted supply of superior 
products and services that our customers need is key to winning 
their trust; and the ability to adapt quickly and effectively to 
changing market realities helps us retain the honour of being 
their first choice. 

Shell Oman ensures strict adherence to safety measures like 
social distancing, wearing of face masks and regular surface 
sanitisation – while continuing to invest in upgrading customer 
experience with innovative and integrated solutions and 
services.
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Health, Safety, Security and 
Environment (HSSE)
In 2020, the Company continued 
with the previous year’s safety 
achievements and closed the year with 
zero recordable Lost Time Injuries (LTI) 
and zero recordable Loss of Product 
Containment (LOPC), keeping the focus 
on the ‘Goal Zero’ journey of ‘No Harm, 
No Leaks’. Several initiatives, including 
Safety Day, which was held virtually in 
2020, continued to strengthen the Safety 
Behaviour Culture in the Company. 
The Company responded swiftly to the 
evolving risks related to COVID-19, 
with safety as a key component of the 
Company’s business continuity plan 
execution, which was developed in 
collaboration and adherence to all 
instructions from the authorities. As 
a result, the Company was able to 
continue business operations while 
mitigating the risks associated with the 
pandemic. Digital solutions, such as the 
use of social media channels, and Shell 
Service Station sites were leveraged to 
raise awareness about COVID-19 and 
engage the general public on Health 
and Safety messages, while additional 

safeguards were put in place at Retail 
forecourts, including scheduled site 
disinfections and contactless e-payments.

Human Resources

Business Environment
The unprecedented challenges brought 
on by the pandemic in 2020 presented 
the Company with an opportunity 
to adapt and evolve its way of doing 
business; to showcase its commitment 
towards sustaining a value proposition 
that continues to attract the best talents, 
keeps them engaged and motivates 
them to outperform. This had been 
achieved through the demonstration 
of the highest level of care for their 
physical, mental and social wellbeing. 
The Company believes that this strategy 
has further strengthened its resilience in 
one of the toughest health and economic 
environments in recent times.

Performance
The Company’s talent pool remains a 
key lever to achieve market leadership 
and deliver the best value to its 
stakeholders. In 2020, the Company 
successfully delivered its key People 

Strategies that included the launch 
of ‘Wave 1’ of the HR Digitalisation 
journey through the implementation of 
a cutting-edge HR cloud solution, which 
will further empower the staff to achieve 
higher levels of engagement and 
performance. HR successfully supported 
the Company’s businesses and functions 
to deliver major change programmes 
and initiatives to improve efficiency and 
maximise performance. 

From an In-Country Value (ICV) 
perspective, the Company continued 
to sustain a high level of Omanisation, 
where approximately 94% of the 
workforce consisted of high calibre 
Omani talents. The year also witnessed 
the successful expansion of the 
e-learning portfolio offerings to staff; 
further strengthening the commitment 
to provide staff with the latest and most 
effective opportunities to support their 
continuous professional and personal 
development.

The Company strongly believes that 
sustaining a high level of employee 
engagement is key to delivering 
business success. In 2020, Shell Oman 

Shell Oman participating in the SQU Career Fair 2020.
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Marketing once again achieved an 
employee participation rate of 98% in 
the Annual Shell People Survey with the 
results of all the parameters in the survey 
outcome being ahead of the Shell 
global top quartile benchmarks. This 
success is underlined by the quality of 
the team leaders in continuing to create 
and sustain a work environment and 
providing a culture which encourages 
collaboration, performance and 
teamwork. 

Through its constant commitment and 
effort to foster a safe, challenging, 
engaging and rewarding working 
environment, the Company continues to 
strengthen its resolve to be the nation’s 
‘Employer of Choice’.

Retail

Business Environment
Retail business has remained the 
largest segment of the Company, and 
demonstrated resilience despite a 
continued downward impact on volumes 
due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The 
business focus remained on ensuring 
the safety of customers and frontline 
personnel through adopting best 

practices to minimise the spread of 
COVID-19 such as contactless payments 
and enhancing sanitation practices. 
Reiterating its ‘Commitment for Care’ 
towards customers and community 
at large, the Company continued to 
deliver superior products and services 
that customers needed and expected 
through the unprecedented times.

The business continued to build on 
its mission of “Making Life’s Journeys 
Better”. This had been achieved 
through HSSE, operational excellence, 
developing world-class people, and 
introducing innovative customer value 
propositions (CVP). Meanwhile, the 
business continued to adapt to evolving 
market conditions, customer needs and 
changing regulations. In addition, the 
business moved forward with its long-
term growth strategy of focusing on 
Non-Fuel Retail (NFR) segment and 
strengthening the CVP of its differentiated 
fuel, Shell V-Power, leveraging evolving 
customer trends and reprioritising its 
infrastructural investments.

Performance
Retail business sustained its market 
leadership position by leveraging prior 

years’ investments in new sites and 
upgrades to existing sites, along with 
the continuous improvement in customer 
experience. The NFR segment played 
a critical role in enhancing customer 
experience through the expansion of 
the new generation of Shell Select in 
Oman, with multiple convenience stores 
introduced during the year, which 
had been further expanded with the 
launch of the digital ordering channel 
in partnership with local and regional 
players. Shell Select also signed 
alliance agreements with international 
and local coffee brands. In addition, 
the Retail business expanded the 
existing site offerings through alliances 
with a key automobile maintenance 
and repair service provider, as well as 
Shell branded car care service centres, 
providing customers with an integrated 
Retail experience. 

During the year, the business expanded 
its engagement with customers through 
social and digital media content and 
promotions. Additionally, marketing 
campaigns were designed with offers 
integrating different channels to 
support Shell V-Power as Shell’s best 
performance and efficiency fuel.

Customer shopping at Shell Select store.

20 ANNUAL REPORT 2020



Fleet Solutions business environment 
remained challenging as commercial 
customers continued to feel the impact 
of the COVID-19 lockdown and the 
subsequent economic challenges. 
The focus remained on adapting 
to the new realities and supporting 
customers by accelerating the transition 
to digitalisation and automation; 
addressing the evolving customer 
landscape; leveraging the Online Cards 
Management System; and enabling 
a superior experience for users of the 
Vehicle Recognition System (VRS).

Commercial Fuels business environment 
also remained challenging with the 
current macroeconomic realities, mainly 
due to COVID-19 and lower oil prices 
impacting mobility and infrastructure 
projects as well as the overall 
commercial activities across major 
industries. However, the focus continued 
primarily on strengthening financial 
positioning, operational excellence and 
quality service to retain key customers 
and capture new opportunities.

Outlook
With a youthful population and other 

economic indicators, the business has 
proactively been re-evaluating plans, re-
prioritising resources and working in the 
face of the new Post-COVID-19 realities. 
Meanwhile, customer-centricity shall 
remain the focus as part of the “Making 
Life’s Journeys Better” mission. This will 
be achieved through our commitment 
to enrich each journey through high 
safety standards, operational excellence 
and innovation in product quality and 
technology to adapt to the evolving 
market conditions and consumer trends 
in a highly competitive and challenging 
environment.

Commercial Lubricants and 
Lubricants Supply Chain

Business Environment 
The impact of COVID-19 pandemic and 
low fuel oil prices created challenges 
for the Lubricants business in 2020, 
causing the overall slowdown in both 
local and export markets and resulting 
in a further drop in overall production 
volume compared to the previous year.  

The lockdown, closures of lubricants 
outlets and franchise workshops, and 
slowdown in vehicular transportation at 

various times during the year lowered 
demand for lubricants in general and 
hit the business significantly, especially 
in the construction sector, franchise 
workshops and high street outlets. 
In addition, the pandemic situation 
negatively affected cash and liquidity 
in the market. Lubricants business 
had shown resilience in overcoming 
this unprecedented market challenge 
and continued to focus on generating 
new revenue streams and retain key 
accounts.

Performance 
Lubricants business maintained market 
leadership and managed to enhance 
premium volume sales through strategic 
partnerships in the automotive and 
distributors sectors. In the oil & gas sector, 
the business secured long term contracts 
with major customers and accounts. 
During the year, the business revisited 
its route-to-market strategy and signed 
up with a new distributor to expand 
its footprints in the high street market, 
as well as increasing its penetration 
into premium volumes. Moreover, the 
indirect business in key regional market 
had witnessed significant growth where 

Shell Service Stations providing integrated services to its customers.
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a new line of product, “Rotella”, has 
been introduced as part of business 
portfolio of products and has generated 
remarkable sales. Partnerships with 
independent workshops (IWS) were 
developed through the opening of 
new sites across the Sultanate, which 
are managed and operated by a long-
term partner who is a market leader 
when it comes to non-OEM-branded 
automobile maintenance IWS. In 
2020, the Lubricants business also 
expanded its premium product portfolio 
to include new grades with strong 
demand in high street outlets. Through 
selective marketing programmes with a 
distributor, the business also increased 
throughput at the outlets. 

As for the Lubricants Blending Plant, HSSE 
performance had been a primary focus, 
as the safety of our staff, contractors 
and customers remained our number 
one priority. Continuous improvement 
initiatives had been implemented to 
enhance the plant’s end-to-end efficiency 
with the aim of achieving world-class 
standards in all aspects of operation.

Despite the unprecedented external 
and internal challenges, business 

continuity was one of the major factors 
in supporting the Company’s Lubricants 
business. Product quality remains best-
in-class, and heavy focus has been put 
on customer satisfaction, where we 
achieved outstanding OTIF of 98%, 
supported by the ISO9001 certification 
and 100% LLCS (Lubricants Laboratory 
Correlations Scheme) score.

Outlook 
The Lubricants business will continue to 
provide the most innovative products 
and services leveraging the Company’s 
ISO-certified Lubricants Blending Plant 
in Oman, and maintain its market 
leadership by working closely with 
partners, distributors and customers. The 
Commercial Lubricants business aims to 
grow its volumes and margins while 
maintaining high safety standards, 
ensuring operation excellence and 
customer satisfaction.

Trading and Supply (T&S)

Business Environment
The year 2020 was a challenging 
year for T&S in various aspects. HSSE 
remained as the top priority with the 
focus on Road Transport Safety and 

Process Safety to ensure ‘Goal Zero’. 
After the transition of its volume from 
the Company’s Mina Al Fahal (MAF) 
terminal to OQ’s Al Jifnain terminal, 
several actions were put in place to 
optimise assets in MAF terminal and 
various options were being explored as 
well. In addition, transport efficiencies 
were realised for more cost-effective and 
safer delivery to the customer.

Performance
The business demonstrated a solid 
performance in 2020 and continues 
to deliver a strong safety culture with 
Zero Process Safety and Road Transport 
Incidents, ensuring the delivery of ‘No 
Harm, No Leak’, while carrying out the 
operations efficiently and effectively 
within the planned cost. 

After significant efforts, numerous 
engagements and negotiations, the 
business managed to finalise a short-
term arrangement on using the un-utilised 
tanks at the Company’s Mina Al Fahal 
terminal. Moreover, Compliance Day 
was held in T&S where non-compliance 
risks were discussed in detail to ensure 
awareness within the team. 

Shell Lubricants winning the Award for Excellence in Industry Partnership with Construction & Infrastructure Sector in the Dossier Construction Infrastructure Awards & 
Summit 2020
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To improve road transport standards, 
customised and specially-compliant 
aluminium tankers were inducted into 
the fleet and installation of in-cab 
cameras are planned to monitor driver’s 
compliance.

Outlook
HSSE remains the top priority. In Process 
Safety, the aim is to achieve best-in-class 
reliability and integrity asset master 
plans. In road transport, the focus will 
continue to be on developing hauliers at 
a professional level. Various initiatives 
are in progress to utilise the tanks at the 
Company’s MAF terminal on a longer-
term basis. 

Aviation

Business Environment 
In 2020, the aviation sector in Oman 
was expected to be a growth segment 
for the economy, and is reflected in 
the sales of the first two months of the 
year. However, since March 2020, the 
industry witnessed a huge drop in the 
number of passengers and technical 
landings at both Muscat and Salalah 
airports due to the COVID-19 pandemic 
and the travel constraints as a result of 

it. With no new flight routes and no 
aircrafts added to Oman Air and Salam 
Air fleets at Muscat International Airport, 
along with a reduction in the flight 
destinations and no new international 
tourist flights at Salalah Airport, there 
was a significant decrease in fuel sales 
at both airports. 

Performance 
The Company’s Aviation team managed 
to win a few new businesses, especially 
in the cargo sector, and retained 
key contracts at Muscat International 
Airport, which contributed significantly 
to the overall performance. In addition, 
a new airport entry was achieved 
in 2020 as the business successfully 
secured a concession agreement with 
Oman Airports to operate at the Duqm 
international Airport. The track record 
of commitment to operational excellence 
at the fuel farms in both Muscat and 
Salalah airports contributed to the 
selection as the main supplier of fuel 
in Duqm. The business also continued 
operating at PDO’s Oil Fields Airport 
with high standards of safety and 
operational excellence. 

Outlook 
The tourism sector in Oman was 
impacted negatively in 2020 due to the 
COVID-19 pandemic, especially during 
Khareef season in Salalah. Both the 
tourism sector and the aviation industry 
are expected to take a number of 
years before passenger traffic volumes 
recover to the levels witnessed prior to 
the pandemic. However, the opening of 
new cargo facilities at both Muscat and 
Salalah airports is expected to contribute 
positively in the recovery journey. The 
Company is positioning itself to play 
a significant role in supporting the 
recovery and growth of the aviation 
industry in Oman in the years ahead.

Customer Operations 

Business Environment
Throughout 2020, the industry’s 
challenging environment required a 
stronger focus on customers, and this 
had been a true differentiator setting the 
Company apart from competitors. The 
Customer Operations business’ purpose 
is to provide a Best-in-Market Customer 
Experience and deliver Business Value, 
at an affordable cost. The business had 
been able to deliver a high score in 

Shell Oman Aviation team at Muscat International Airport fuel farm.
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Customer Satisfaction Index (CSI) despite 
the various challenges encountered.

Performance
Customer Operations is the Company’s 
umbrella for the downstream customer-
related processes, which encompasses 
the entire chain of customer-facing 
activities in B2B and B2C operations, 
which are delivered through three 
Customer Journeys: “Deal-Making”, 
“Order to Delivery” and “Bill to 
Cash”. With a strong commercial 
mindset in place, Customer Operations 
continued to deliver an innovative 
customer experience leveraging digital 
technologies.

Customer Operations team has the 
Company’s customers at the heart 
of its operations, taking note of their 
expectations, anticipating and rapidly 
adapting to their changing needs in 
collaboration with other businesses 
within the Company. 

The team secured strong value delivery 
and savings for the Company through 
continuous improvement projects. 
Additionally, the business strengthened 
its digital transformation projects to 
support customer experience through 

IT solutions and contributed to the 
Company’s Bill-to-Cash initiative.

Outlook
Customer Operations ensures the 
delivery of a consistently strong 
customer experience across businesses 
even as external standards rise ever 
higher. The team’s aim is to continue 
delivering a Best-in-Market experience 
for customers, ensuring a sustainably 
high CSI by working closely with other 
businesses to resolve chronic issues, 
generate more value through utilising 
continuous improvement processes and 
building upon our digital platforms. 

Corporate Social 
Responsibility
The year 2020 had been an 
unprecedented period as it witnessed 
several unforeseen challenges. It began 
with the passing of His Majesty Sultan 
Qaboos bin Said (May his soul rest in 
peace) and the subsequent 40 days of 
mourning. Soon after that, the country, 
and the world, faced the outbreak of the 
COVID-19 pandemic, which coincided 
with the macroeconomic challenges that 
were heightened by the record drop in 

crude oil prices. The combined effects 
had severely impacted both the industry 
and the country. Shell Oman Marketing 
responded by reprioritising its resources 
to maintain financial resilience and 
effective business continuity to ensure 
availability of essential energy and 
mobility. In addition, the Company 
was engaged with its stakeholders and 
partners from both public and private 
sectors, including Shell JVs, to assist in 
coordinating support.

The Company leadership recognised 
the value of collaborating with Shell 
Development Oman (SDO) and other 
partners to support the national efforts 
during the challenging times. Altogether, 
the Ministry of Health was provided 
OMR 750,000 to purchase testing 
kits for COVID-19 and OMR 300,000 
worth of fuel for ambulances. This 
support aimed to ease the operational 
strain on the Ministry of Health, as they 
faced an increasing challenge in the 
demand for medical resources. To raise 
awareness on COVID-19, the Company 
collaborated with the Ministry of Health 
and SDO to rollout an integrated media 
campaign, with ‘#Stay_Home’ being 

Shell Oman tanker delivering world class fuels and lubricants to customers across the Sultanate.

24 ANNUAL REPORT 2020



advocated across Shell Service Stations 
and on multiple digital platforms.

Additionally, the Company, through 
its different lines of business, had 
also provided support to many of its 
local SMEs business partners such as 
retailers, NFR operators and others, 
through multiple initiatives. These 
included initiatives to raise awareness 
about the pandemic, distributing safety 
kits, and extending rent and fees relief, 
among others. 

Despite the challenges, the Company 
went ahead with its support for several 
planned initiatives and programmes 
that were in line with its CSR strategic 
themes: Road Safety, Environment, and 
Community and Enterprise Development. 

The Company supported a programme 
on road safety in collaboration with the 
Public Authority for Social Insurance, 
and another organised by the Wali 
Amerat Office. It also supported road 
safety awareness activities at the 
Civil Defence Day event held at the 
Public Authority of Civil Defence and 

Ambulance. In addition, the Company 
provided several car seats for infants in 
the local community.

As part of its community and enterprise 
development initiatives, the Company 
participated in the 21st Sultan Qaboos 
University Career and Training 
Opportunities Fair, offering multiple 
internship and job opportunities. 
Shell Oman also carried on its annual 
tradition in the spirit of giving in the 
communities in which it operates, 
especially during the holy month of 
Ramadan, by distributing food packets 
to more than 450 families. Shell Oman 
also hosted a signing ceremony to ink 
a long term agreement with Outward 
Bound Oman, an educational non-
profit organisation, becoming the ‘Fuel 
Partner’ for the outdoor experiences 
and self-discovery activities they offer. 
These experiences help Omani youth 
raise their self-esteem, realise their full 
potential, and help better shape their 
characters for the work environment.

As part of its environment initiatives, the 
Company collaborated with the Wali 

Muscat Office to support the national 
environmental campaign initiated by 
the Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and 
Water Resources, to remove harmful 
trees of “Al Mskeet” in Muscat.  

SI Theme
Amount 

(Spent RO)

Road Safety 11,763

Environment 2,000

Community & Enterprise 
Development 106,237

Total 120,000

Outlook
The Company is committed to Oman and 
its people under the leadership of His 
Majesty Sultan Haitham bin Tarik and to 
support his vision for the Sultanate and 
play an active role in realising Oman 
2040 vision. 

Shell Oman Marketing is committed 
to collaborate and work with all 
stakeholders to reinforce its role as a 
responsible corporate citizen, and to do 
its part in serving our community.

Shell Oman team at the Oman Science Festival organised by Ministry of Education.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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In the interest of ensuring sustainability Shell Oman is focussed 
on conserving financial resources while raising resilience and 
efficiency across businesses and functions.

To drive efficiency and stay ahead of changing expectations of 
customers and new market realities, we are accelerating our 
digital transformation journey.

We are leveraging the significant investments we have already 
made in digitalisation and IT infrastructure, like integrated 
automation and connectivity, and enhancing the use of digital 
tools as customer value propositions.
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2020

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2020 2019

Notes RO’000 RO’000

Revenue from contracts with customers 7 367,090 524,826

Cost of sales (339,855) (488,318)

Gross profit 27,235         36,508

Other income 5 4,927 6,582

Selling and distribution expenses (22,643) (22,899)

Administrative expenses (4,467) (5,545)

Operating profit 5,052 14,646

Finance costs 6 (2,001) (1,780)

Finance income 26 47

Profit before income tax 3,077 12,913

Income tax expense 9 (493) (1,926)

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 2,584 10,987

Basic and diluted earnings per share (RO) 24 0.025 0.110

The accompanying notes 1 to 32 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Financial Position
At 31 December 2020

2020 2019
Notes RO’000 RO’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 10 54,882 57,097
Intangible assets 11 69 177
Right-of-use assets 22 29,755         25,249
Total non-current assets 84,706 82,523

Current assets
Inventories 13 6,646 7,202
Trade and other receivables 14 33,901 60,296
Bank balances 15 4,607 7,513
Total current assets 45,154 75,011
Total assets 129,860 157,534

EQUITY
Share capital 16 10,000 10,000
Legal reserve 18 3,587 3,587
Retained earnings 36,302 40,318
Total equity 49,889 53,905

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Long term loan 20(a) 6,667 6,000
Lease liabilities 22 25,770 22,463
Deferred tax liability 12 51 120
Employees’ end of service benefits 19 301 271
Total non-current liabilities 32,789 28,854

Current liabilities
Current portion of long term loan 20(a) 3,333 -
Short term loan 20(b) - 11,000
Lease liabilities 22 3,375          1,923
Trade and other payables 21 40,003 59,851
Income tax payable 9 282 1,746
Provision for employee retention scheme 23 189 255

Total current liabilities 47,182 74,775
Total liabilities 79,971 103,629
Total equity and liabilities 129,860 157,534
Net assets per share (RO) 27 0.498 0.539

The financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors on 8 February 2021 
and signed on their behalf by:

Walid Abdul Hady Hamad Shabib Mohammed Al Darmaki
Chairman Director

The accompanying notes 1 to 32 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 31 December 2020

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Share
capital

Legal
reserve

Retained
earnings Total

Notes RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

At 1 January 2019 10,000 3,587 36,531 50,118

Profit and total comprehensive income for 
the year - - 10,987 10,987

Dividend paid 25 - - (7,200) (7,200)

At 31 December 2019 10,000 3,587 40,318 53,905

Profit and total comprehensive income for 
the year - - 2,584 2,584

Dividend paid 25 - - (6,600) (6,600)

At 31 December 2020 10,000 3,587 36,302 49,889

The accompanying notes 1 to 32 form part of these financial statements
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Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019
Notes RO’000 RO’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax 3,077 12,913
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 10&22 8,425 6,785
Amortisation 11 108 175
Provision for employee retention scheme 23 61 102
Accrual for employees’ end of service benefits 19 36 38
Allowance for expected credit loss 14 40 376
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (2) (70)
Finance costs 6 2,001 1,780
Finance income (26) (47)

Operating cash flows before working capital changes:  13,720 22,052
Inventories 556 205
Trade and other receivables 25,787 (15,918)
Trade and other payables (19,848) 8,956

Operating cash flows after working capital changes: 20,215 15,295
Employee retention scheme paid 23 (127) (125)
Employees’ end of service benefits paid 19 (6) (36)
Income taxes paid 9 (2,025) (1,940)
Net cash flows generated from operating activities 18,057 13,194

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment    10 (2,628) (13,939)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 61 70
Interest received 26 47
Net cash flows used in investing activities (2,541) (13,822)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid 25 (6,600) (7,200)
Interest paid 6 (2,001) (1,780)
Proceeds from term loans 20 4,000 -
Net movement in short term loans (11,000) (4,000)
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities 22 (2,821)  (2,112)
Net cash flows used in financing activities (18,422) (15,092)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (2,906) (15,720)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 7,513 23,233
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 15 4,607 7,513

The accompanying notes 1 to 32 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

1 Legal status and principal activities

Shell Oman Marketing Company SAOG (“the Company”) is registered in the Sultanate of Oman as a public joint stock 
company and is primarily engaged in the marketing and distribution of petroleum products and blending of lubricants. 
The Company has its primary listing on the Muscat Securities Market.

The financial statements of the Company are consolidated in the financial statements of Royal Dutch Shell plc (the ultimate 
parent company), a company incorporated in the United Kingdom.  

2 Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies are summarised below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years 
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

(a) Statement of compliance
 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 

and the requirements of the Commercial Companies Law of the Sultanate of Oman, as amended and the Capital 
Market Authority. They have been prepared under the assumption that the Company operates on going concern 
basis (note 4.7).

(b) Basis of measurement
 The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost convention. 

(c) Presentation and functional currency
 These financial statements are presented in Rial Omani (RO), which is the Company’s functional currency. 

(d) Use of estimates and judgments
 The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that 

affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

 Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. In particular, information 
about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have 
the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements are described in note 4.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

2 Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Following are the significant accounting policies adopted by the Company:

2.2 Revenue from contract with customers
The Company’s principal activity is manufacturing and selling Fuel, lubricants and petroleum products. 

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are transferred to the 
customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for 
those goods or services. The Company has generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue arrangements 
because it typically controls the goods or services before transferring them to the customer.

Sale of fuel, lubricants and petroleum products 

Revenue from sale of Fuel, lubricants and petroleum products is recognised at the point in time when control of the 
asset is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the products. The Company’s terms of sales require 
amounts to be paid on average of 30 days from the date of sale. 

The Company considers whether there are other promises in the contract that are separate performance obligations 
to which a portion of the transaction price needs to be allocated. In determining the transaction price for the sale 
of products, the Company considers the effects of variable consideration. If the consideration in a contract includes 
a variable amount, the Company estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for 
transferring the goods to the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained 
until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not 
occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

Volume Rebate  

The Company provides retrospective volume rebates to certain customers once the quantity of products purchased 
during the period exceeds a threshold specified in the contract. Rebates are offset against amounts payable by the 
customer. To estimate the variable consideration for the future expected rebates, the company applies the most likely 
amount method for contracts with a single-volume threshold and the expected value method for contracts with more than 
one volume threshold. The selected method that best predicts the amount of variable consideration is primarily driven by 
the number of volume thresholds contained in the contract. The Company then applies the requirements on constraining 
estimates of variable consideration in order to determine the amount of variable consideration that can be included in 
the transaction price and recognised as revenue. A refund liability is recognised for the expected future rebates.

2.3 Directors’ remuneration
The Company follows the Commercial Companies Law, and other relevant directives issued by CMA, in regard 
to determination of the amount to be paid as Directors’ remuneration. Directors’ remuneration is charged to the 
statement of comprehensive income in the year to which it relates.

2.4 Employees’ end of service benefits
End of service benefits are accrued in accordance with the terms of employment of the Company’s employees at the 
reporting date, having regard to the requirements of the Oman Labour Law and its amendments. Employee entitlements 
to annual leave and leave passage are recognised when they accrue to employees and an accrual is made for the 
estimated liability arising as a result of services rendered by employees up to the reporting date. These accruals are 
included in current liabilities, while that relating to end of service benefits is disclosed as a non-current liability.

Contributions to a defined contribution retirement plan and occupational hazard insurance for Omani employees 
in accordance with the Omani Social Insurances Law of 1991 are recognised as an expense in the statement of 
comprehensive income as incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

2 Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.5 Borrowing cost 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset that necessarily 
takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the 
respective assets. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest 
and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

2.6 Income tax
Taxation is provided for based on relevant tax laws of the Sultanate of Oman in which the Company operates.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially 
enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the reporting date between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the 
asset is realised, or the liability is settled, based on laws that have been enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and carry-forward of unused tax assets 
and unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax 
asset to be utilised.

Income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

2.7 Property, plant and equipment
 
Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses if 
any. Expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item of property, plant and equipment that is accounted 
for separately, including major inspection and overhaul expenditure, is capitalised. When significant parts of plant 
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Company depreciates them separately based on their 
specific useful lives. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of 
the plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance 
costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Subsequent expenditure

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of an 
item if it is probable that future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Company and the cost 
can be measured reliably. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in 
the statement of comprehensive income, as incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

2 Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.7 Property, plant and equipment (continued)       
 

Depreciation

Depreciation is charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 
lives of the property, plant and equipment as follows:

 Years
Buildings 3 - 40
Plant and equipment 3 - 30
Motor vehicles 5 – 15

Work-in-progress is stated at cost less impairment. When the underlying asset is available for use in its intended 
condition and location, work-in-progress is transferred to the appropriate property, plant and equipment category 
and depreciated in accordance with depreciation policy of the Company.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount it is written down immediately 
to its recoverable amount.  

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal 
(i.e., at the date the recipient obtains control) or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or 
disposal. Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment are determined by reference to their 
carrying amounts and are taken into account in determining operating profit.

2.8 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Chief Executive Officer who manages the 
Company on a day-to-day basis, as per the directives given by the board of directors that makes strategic decisions.

2.9 Intangible assets
Intangible assets are stated at cost, net of amortisation and impairment losses if any. Subsequent expenditure on 
intangible assets is capitalised only when it is probable that the associated future economic benefits will flow to the 
Company and the cost can be measured reliably. All other expenditure is expensed as incurred. 

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised from the date when they are available for use. Amortisation is 
charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the intangible asset 
i.e. 5 years. 

2.10 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price 
in the ordinary course of business less the estimated cost of completion and estimated cost necessary to make the sale.  

The cost of inventories is determined using the first-in-first-out method and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring 
the inventories and bringing them to their existing location and condition. 

Provision is made where necessary for obsolete, slow moving and defective items, based on management’s 
assessment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

2 Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.11 Employees retention scheme
A retention scheme is defined as a financial incentive offered to existing staff, either individually or collectively to 
remain in continued employment generally, or in a particular business or role, over a given period.  The form of 
payment is generally in the form of a one-off cash payment made at the end of a specified period. This is recognised 
as an employee expense in profit or loss over the period of three years. In case, the relevant employee leaves the 
Company before three years, the corresponding expense is reversed through profit or loss.

2.12 Financial assets 

Initial recognition and measurement

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow 
characteristics and the Company’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that 
do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Company has applied the practical expedient, the 
Company initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value 
through profit or loss, transaction costs.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to 
give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding. 
This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level. The Company’s business model 
for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The 
business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial 
assets, or both. Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established 
by regulation or convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date 
that the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories:
- Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) 
- Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments) 
- Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon 

derecognition (equity instruments) 
- Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

This category is the most relevant to the Company. The Company measures financial assets at amortised cost if both 
of the following conditions are met:

- The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows; and 

- The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and are 
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified 
or impaired. The Company’s financial assets at amortised cost includes trade receivables and cash and cash 
equivalents. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

2 Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.12 Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a Company of similar financial assets) 
is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Company’s statement of financial position) when:

- The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or
- The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay 
the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass- through’ arrangement; and either 
(a) the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Company has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has 
neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the 
asset, the Company continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In that 
case, the Company also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are 
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Company has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of 
the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Company could be 
required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets 

The Company recognises an allowance for Expected Credit Losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair 
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance 
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of 
the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or 
other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within 
the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of 
the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

For trade receivables covering under IFRS 15, the Company applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. 
Therefore, the Company does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on 
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Company has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical 
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. 
For finance lease receivable, the company applies general approach in calculating the ECL and is determined by 
using the probability of default (PD), exposure at default (EAD) and loss given default (LGD).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

2 Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.13 Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets other than inventories and deferred tax asset are 
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indications 
exist, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its value in use 
and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing the value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to 
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specified to the asset. Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting 
date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has 
been a change in estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net 
of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

2.14 Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, 
loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as 
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, 
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Company’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables and bank borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss:
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial 
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the 
near term. This category also includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Company that are not 
designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives 
are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses 
on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the initial 
date of recognition, and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 is satisfied. The Company has not designated any financial 
liability at fair value through profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

2 Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.14 Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

This is the category most relevant to the Company. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest (EIR) method. The effective 
interest method is the method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest 
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
payments through the expected life of the financial liability to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. Gains 
and losses are recognised in statement of comprehensive income when the liabilities are derecognised as well as 
through the EIR amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are 
an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of comprehensive income.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the 
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying 
amounts is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, bank balances and short-term deposits with an original maturity 
of three months or less, that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and subject to an insignificant risk 
of changes in value. 

2.16 Provisions
A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the Company has a legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Provision for environment 
remediation, resulting from past operations or events, is recognised in the period in which an obligation to a 
third party arises and the amount can be reliably estimated. Measurement of liabilities is based on current legal 
requirements and existing technology.  

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is 
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value 
of those cash flows. Where some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be 
recovered from third parties, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will 
be received, and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

2.17 Dividends
Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s 
shareholders. Dividends for the year that are approved after the reporting date are dealt with as a non-adjusting 
event after the reporting date.

2.18 Trade and other payables
Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether billed by the 
supplier or not.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

2 Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.19 Fair values
A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both 
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or 
disclosure purposes based on a number of accounting policies and methods. Where applicable, information about 
the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that 
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

- In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
- In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Company.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that 
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 
are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of 
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorized 
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement as a whole:

- Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
- Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 

is directly or indirectly observable
- Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 

is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the 
Company determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization 
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each 
reporting year.
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2 Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.20 Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Company at its functional currency spot rates at the 
date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are translated at the functional currency spot rates of exchange at the reporting date. Foreign exchange gains and 
losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined.

The gain or loss arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the 
recognition of the gain or loss on the change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose fair 
value gain or loss is recognised in OCI or profit or loss are also recognised in OCI or profit or loss, respectively).

2.21 Current versus non-current classification
The Company presents assets and liabilities in statement of financial position based on current/non-current 
classification.

An asset as current when it is:
• Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle
• Held primarily for the purpose of trading
• Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or
• Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve 

months after the reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non-current.
A liability is current when:
• It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle
• It is held primarily for the purpose of trading
• It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or
• There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting 

period.

The Company classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

2.22 Leases 
The Company assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.  

Company as a lessee 
The Company applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases 
and leases of low-value assets. The Company recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use 
assets representing the right to use the underlying assets. 
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2 Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.22 Leases (continued)
i) Right-of-use assets 

The Company recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is 
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, 
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease 
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less 
any lease incentives received. Right of use assets are subject to impairment. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows:
  Years
Land 2 - 91
Ship 5

ii) Lease liabilities 
At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of 
lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance 
fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, 
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise 
price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Company and payments of penalties for 
terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Company exercising the option to terminate. The variable lease 
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expense in the period on which the event or 
condition that triggers the payment occurs.  

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease 
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement 
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments 
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease 
term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate 
used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset. 

iii) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 

The Company applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment 
(i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a 
purchase option). Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Company as a lessor 

Leases in which the Company does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of 
an asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the 
lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs 
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and 
recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in 
the period in which they are earned.

2.23 Share capital
Ordinary and multi-vote shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new 
shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Other balances representing a residual interest in the net assets of the Company are also classified as equity.
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2. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.24 New and amended standards and interpretations to IFRS

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company has adopted all of the new and revised standards and 
interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) of the IASB that are relevant to its operations and effective for years 
beginning on or after 1 January 2020. 

• Amendments to IFRS 3: Definition of a business
 The amendment to IFRS 3 Business Combinations clarifies that to be considered a business, an integrated set of 

activities and assets must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that, together, significantly 
contribute to the ability to create output. Furthermore, it clarifies that a business can exist without including all of 
the inputs and processes needed to create outputs. These amendments had no impact on the financial statements 
of the Company but may impact future periods should the Company enter into any business combinations.

• Amendments to IFRS 7, IFRS 9 and IAS 39 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
 The amendments to IFRS 9 and IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement provide a number 

of reliefs, which apply to all hedging relationships that are directly affected by interest rate benchmark reform. 
A hedging relationship is affected if the reform gives rise to uncertainty about the timing and/or amount of 
benchmark-based cash flows of the hedged item or the hedging instrument. These amendments have no impact 
on the financial statements of the Company as it does not have any interest rate hedge relationships.

• Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 Definition of Material
 The amendments provide a new definition of material that states, “information is material if omitting, misstating 

or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose 
financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial information about 
a specific reporting entity.” The amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude of 
information, either individually or in combination with other information, in the context of the financial statements. 
A misstatement of information is material if it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions made by the 
primary users. These amendments had no impact on the financial statements of, nor is there expected to be any 
future impact to the Company.

• Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued on 29 March 2018
 The Conceptual Framework is not a standard, and none of the concepts contained therein override the concepts 

or requirements in any standard. The purpose of the Conceptual Framework is to assist the IASB in developing 
standards, to help preparers develop consistent accounting policies where there is no applicable standard in 
place and to assist all parties to understand and interpret the standards. This will affect those entities which 
developed their accounting policies based on the Conceptual Framework. The revised Conceptual Framework 
includes some new concepts, updated definitions and recognition criteria for assets and liabilities and clarifies 
some important concepts. These amendments had no impact on the financial statements of the Company.
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2. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.25 Standards issued but not yet effective 

The following new standards and amendments have been issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB) which may impact the financial statements of the Company but are not yet mandatory for the year ended 31 
December 2020:

• IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
 In May 2017, the IASB issued IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 17), a comprehensive new accounting standard 

for insurance contracts covering recognition and measurement, presentation and disclosure. Once effective, 
IFRS 17 will replace IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 4) that was issued in 2005. IFRS 17 applies to all types of 
insurance contracts (i.e., life, non-life, direct insurance and re-insurance), regardless of the type of entities that 
issue them, as well as to certain guarantees and financial instruments with discretionary participation features. A 
few scope exceptions will apply. The overall objective of IFRS 17 is to provide an accounting model for insurance 
contracts that is more useful and consistent for insurers. In contrast to the requirements in IFRS 4, which are 
largely based on grandfathering previous local accounting policies, IFRS 17 provides a comprehensive model 
for insurance contracts, covering all relevant accounting aspects. The core of IFRS 17 is the general model, 
supplemented by:

- A specific adaptation for contracts with direct participation features (the variable fee approach)
- A simplified approach (the premium allocation approach) mainly for short-duration contracts 

IFRS 17 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with comparative figures 
required. Early application is permitted, provided the entity also applies IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 on or before the 
date it first applies IFRS 17. This standard is not applicable to the Company. 

• Amendments to IFRS 16 Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions
 On 28 May 2020, the IASB issued Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions - amendment to IFRS 16 Leases. The 

amendments provide relief to lessees from applying IFRS 16 guidance on lease modification accounting for 
rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic. As a practical expedient, a lessee 
may elect not to assess whether a Covid-19 related rent concession from a lessor is a lease modification. A 
lessee that makes this election accounts for any change in lease payments resulting from the Covid-19 related 
rent concession the same way it would account for the change under IFRS 16, if the change were not a lease 
modification. The amendment applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020. Earlier 
application is permitted. This amendment had no impact on the financial statements of the Company.
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2.25 Standards issued but not yet effective (continued) 

• Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS 1 to specify the requirements for 
classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify:  
- What is meant by a right to defer settlement
- That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period 
- That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right 
- That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would the terms of 

a liability not impact its classification  

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and must be 
applied retrospectively. The Company is currently assessing the impact the amendments will have on current 
practice and whether existing loan agreements may require renegotiation.  

• Reference to the Conceptual Framework – Amendments to IFRS 3
In May 2020, the IASB issued Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations - Reference to the Conceptual 
Framework. The amendments are intended to replace a reference to the Framework for the Preparation and 
Presentation of Financial Statements, issued in 1989, with a reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial 
Reporting issued in March 2018 without significantly changing its requirements. The Board also added an 
exception to the recognition principle of IFRS 3 to avoid the issue of potential ‘day 2’ gains or losses arising 
for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within the scope of IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 Levies, if incurred 
separately. At the same time, the Board decided to clarify existing guidance in IFRS 3 for contingent assets 
that would not be affected by replacing the reference to the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of 
Financial Statements. The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2022 and apply prospectively.

• Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use – Amendments to IAS 16
In May 2020, the IASB issued Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use, which prohibits 
entities deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment, any proceeds from selling items 
produced while bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in 
the manner intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from selling such items, and the 
costs of producing those items, in profit or loss. 

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and must 
be applied retrospectively to items of property, plant and equipment made available for use on or after the 
beginning of the earliest period presented when the entity first applies the amendment. The amendments are not 
expected to have a material impact on the Company.

• Onerous Contracts – Costs of Fulfilling a Contract – Amendments to IAS 37
In May 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 37 to specify which costs an entity needs to include when 
assessing whether a contract is onerous or loss-making. The amendments apply a “directly related cost approach”. 
The costs that relate directly to a contract to provide 
goods or services include both incremental costs and an allocation of costs directly related to contract activities. 
General and administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are explicitly 
chargeable to the counterparty under the contract. 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. The Company 
will apply these amendments to contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of 
the annual reporting period in which it first applies the amendments.
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2. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.25 Standards issued but not yet effective (continued) 

• IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards – Subsidiary as a 
first-time adopter
As part of its 2018-2020 annual improvements to IFRS standards process, the IASB issued an amendment to 
IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards. The amendment permits a subsidiary 
that elects to apply paragraph D16(a) of IFRS 1 to measure cumulative translation differences using the amounts 
reported by the parent, based on the parent’s date of transition to IFRS. This amendment is also applied to an 
associate or joint venture that elects to apply paragraph D16(a) of IFRS 1. 

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier 
adoption permitted.

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – Fees in the ’10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial 
liabilities
As part of its 2018-2020 annual improvements to IFRS standards process the IASB issued amendment to IFRS 9. 
The amendment clarifies the fees that an entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or modified 
financial liability are substantially different from the terms of the original financial liability. These fees include 
only those paid or received between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the 
borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. An entity applies the amendment to financial liabilities that are modified 
or exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first 
applies the amendment. 

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier 
adoption permitted. The Company will apply the amendments to financial liabilities that are modified or exchanged 
on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the amendment. The 
amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Company.

• IAS 41 Agriculture – Taxation in fair value measurements
As part of its 2018-2020 annual improvements to IFRS standards process the IASB issued amendment to IAS 41 
Agriculture. The amendment removes the requirement in paragraph 22 of IAS 41 that entities exclude cash flows 
for taxation when measuring the fair value of assets within the scope of IAS 41. An entity applies the amendment 
prospectively to fair value measurements on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning 
on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier adoption permitted. The amendments are not expected to have a 
material impact on the Company.

3 Financial risk management

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including the effects of changes in market risk 
(including foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s overall risk 
management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse 
effects on the financial performance of the Company. Risk management is carried out by management under policies 
approved by the Board of Directors.
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3 Financial risk management (continued)

3.2 Market risk

3.2.1 Foreign exchange risk
 
Foreign exchange risk arises where the value of a financial instrument changes due to changes in foreign exchange 
rates. The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk on sales, purchases and bank deposits that are denominated 
in foreign currencies. The Company’s net exposure to the United 

States Dollar (USD) resulting from USD denominated sales is offset by USD denominated purchases of base oils, 
additives, sea freight and other items. Since the Rial Omani (RO) is currently pegged to the USD, management 
believe that the exchange rate fluctuation would have an insignificant impact on the profit. 

3.2.2   Interest rate risk

The Company’s interest rate risk arises from its term loans. The Company manages its exposure to interest rate risk 
by (a) utilising short-term financing at rates fixed at the time of obtaining the finance and (b) for long term loans, a 
combination of the lending bank’s fixed margin plus the Government of Oman’s 28-day T-bill rate.

Interest rate sensitivity

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on that portion of 
term loans affected. With all other variables held constant, the Company’s profit before tax is affected through the 
impact on term loans, as follows:

Increase/
decrease 

in basis points
Effect on profit 

before tax

RO’000

2020 +/-100 100

+/-50 50

2019 +/-100 170

+/-50 85
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3 Financial risk management (continued)

3.2 Market risk (continued)

3.2.3   Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations and arises principally from cash and cash equivalents, as well as credit exposures to customers. The 
Company has a credit policy in place and exposure to credit risk is monitored on an on-going basis. Credit 
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit 
over a certain amount. The Company requires bank guarantees on higher credit risk customers. The Company does 
not require collateral in respect of all other financial assets. 

The Company only deals with commercial banks in Oman with good ratings. Management does not expect any of 
its counter parties to fail to meet its obligations. 

Concentration of credit risk arises when a number of counter-parties are engaged in similar business activities, or 
activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet 
contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations 
of credit risk indicate the relative sensitivity of the Company’s performance to developments affecting a particular 
industry or geographical location.
                  
The Company has significant concentrations of credit risk with the Government sector. At 31 December 2020, 
Government organisations in Oman accounted for 34% (2019 - 47%) of the outstanding trade accounts receivables. 
At 31 December 2020, there were no other significant concentrations of credit risk.

Credit risk on other financial assets, including cash and cash equivalents arises from the risk of default of the 
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these balances.

Cash and bank balances are placed on deposit with reputed financial institutions in the Sultanate of Oman.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of financial assets as 
follows:

2020 2019

RO’000 RO’000

Trade and other receivables 31,236 55,974

Cash and cash equivalents 4,607 7,513

35,843 63,487
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3.3 Liquidity risk

The Company limits its liquidity risk by ensuring bank facilities are available. The Company’s terms of sales require 
amounts to be paid on an average of 30 days from the date of sale. Trade payables are normally settled within 90 
days of the date of purchase. 

The Company observed an adverse impact on its sales demand due to COVID-19 outbreak. Management has taken 
several steps in protecting cash flows through compensating cost saving measures and reductions to discretionary 
capital expenditure. Further, the Company aims to maintain the level of its cash and cash equivalents at an amount 
sufficient to meet cash outflows in a range of scenarios.

The table below summarises the maturities of the Company’s undiscounted financial liabilities at 31 December, 
based on contractual payment dates and current market interest rates.

2020
Up to one 

year
1-5

years
More than 5 

years Total 

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Term loans 3,530 6,788 - 10,318

Lease liabilities 4,643 9,385 28,090 42,118

Trade and other payables 40,003 - - 40,003

Total 48,176 16,173 28,090 92,439

2019
Up to one 

year
1 - 5
years

More than 5 
years Total 

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Term loans 11,517 6,250 - 17,767

Lease liabilities 3,523 9,275 26,145 38,943

Trade and other payables 59,851 - - 59,851

Total 74,891 15,525 26,145 116,561

3.4 Capital management

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain a 
commercially defensible capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. Capital comprises share capital, legal reserve 
and retained earnings.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. No changes were made 
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.
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3 Financial risk management (continued)

3.4 Capital management (continued)

The Company monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is ‘net debt’ divided by total equity. The Company 
includes within net debt, term loans and borrowings, lease liabilities, trade and other payables, less cash and short-
term deposits.

2020 2019

RO’000 RO’000

Term loans 10,000 17,000

Lease liabilities (note 22) 29,145 24,386

Trade and other payables (note 21) 40,003 59,851

Less: cash and short-term deposits (note 15) (4,607) (7,513)

Net debt 74,541 93,724

Equity 49,889 53,905

Capital and net debt 124,430 147,629

Gearing ratio 1.6 1.7

3.5 Fair value estimation

The nominal value less any estimated credit adjustments for financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than 
one year are assumed to approximate to their fair values. Financial assets consist of cash and bank balances and 
trade and other receivables. Financial liabilities consist of trade and other payables and term loans.
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4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. 
It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. The 
Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, 
seldom equal the related actual results. 

The effects of COVID-19 have resulted in certain judgements and estimates being significant in the current period. This is 
due to uncertainty introduced by the effects of the pandemic.

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  The areas requiring a higher 
degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements 
are set out below.

Estimates

4.1 Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables
The Company uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days 
past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Company’s historical observed default rates. The Company calibrates 
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast 
economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead 
to an increased number of defaults in the manufacturing sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At every 
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are 
analysed.
           
The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs 
is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast economic 
conditions. The Company’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be 
representative of customer’s actual default in the future.
 
At the reporting date, gross trade receivable were RO 31,236 thousand (2019:RO 55,974 thousand), and the 
allowance for expected credit losses was RO 1,512 thousand (2019: RO 1,472 thousand).

4.2 Useful lives of property, plant and equipment 
The Company’s management determines the estimated useful lives of its property, plant and equipment for calculating 
depreciation. The calculation of useful lives is based on management’s assessment of various factors such as the 
operating cycles, the maintenance programs, and normal wear and tear using its best estimates. 

4.3 Taxes 
Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of tax regulations and the amount and timing of future taxable 
income. Given the wide range of business relationships and nature of existing contractual agreements, differences 
arising between the actual results and the assumptions made, or future changes to such assumptions, could necessitate 
future adjustments to tax income and expense already recorded. 

The Company establishes provisions, based on reasonable estimates, for possible consequences of finalization of 
tax assessments. The amount of such provisions is based on various factors, such as experience of previous tax 
assessments and differing interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity and the responsible tax authority.
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Estimates (continued)

4.4 Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate
The Company cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental 
borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Company would have to pay 
to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value 
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Company ‘would have 
to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available or when they need to be adjusted to 
reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The Company estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market 
interest rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates.

4.5 Net realisable value of inventories
Inventories are held at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  When inventories become old or obsolete, an 
estimate is made of their net realisable value.  For individually significant amounts this estimation is performed on 
an individual basis.  Amounts which are not individually significant, but which are old or obsolete, are assessed 
collectively and a provision applied according to the inventory type and the degree of ageing or obsolescence, 
based on historical selling prices.

At the reporting date, gross petroleum products and raw materials were RO 6,758 thousand (2019: RO 7,337 
thousand), with provisions for old and obsolete inventories of RO 112 thousand (2019: RO 135 thousand). Any 
difference between the amounts actually realised in future periods and the amounts expected will be recognised in 
the income statement.

4.6 Impairment of non-financial assets
Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, 
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less costs of disposal 
calculation is based on available data from binding sales transactions, conducted at arm’s length, for similar assets 
or observable market prices less incremental costs of disposing of the asset. 

The value in use calculation is based on a DCF model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next 
five years and do not include restructuring activities that the Company is not yet committed to or significant future 
investments that will enhance the performance of the assets of the CGU being tested. The recoverable amount is 
sensitive to the discount rate used for the DCF model as well as the expected future cash-inflows and the growth rate 
used for extrapolation purposes. These estimates are most relevant to right of use and property, plant and equipment 
recognised by the Company.

Judgements

4.7 Going concern
The Company’s management has made an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern 
and is satisfied that the Company has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, 
the management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared on the going 
concern basis. As at 31 December 2020, the Company’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by RO 
2,028 thousand. However, the Company will generate sufficient cash flows from operations which will enable the 
Company to meet its obligations.
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Judgements (continued)

4.8 Significant judgement in determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination  
options – Company as lessee

The Company determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered 
by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to 
terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.

The Company has the option, under some of its leases to lease the assets for additional terms. The Company applies 
judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the option to renew. That is, it considers all 
relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise the renewal. After the commencement date, the 
Company reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control 
and affects its ability to exercise (or not to exercise) the option to renew or to terminate (e.g., a change in business 
strategy, construction of significant leasehold improvements or significant customisation to the leased asset).

5 Other income

Other income consists of Shell fuel cards income, aviation commission, rental income from filling station dealers, 
convenience stores franchisee fees, and throughput and product handling fees for use of the Company’s assets.

6 Finance costs

2020 2019
RO’000 RO’000

Interest on debts and borrowings 692 654
Interest on lease liabilities (note 22) 1,309 1,126

2,001 1,780

7 Revenue from contracts with customers

2020 2019
RO’000 RO’000

Retail 320,264 416,316
Aviation 18,183 71,637
Others 28,643 36,873

367,090 524,826

The Company’s operating revenues arise primarily from the marketing and distribution of petroleum products in the 
Sultanate of Oman and are recognised at point in time and.

8  Employee costs 

Employee costs included in selling, distribution and administrative expenses comprise:
2020 2019

RO’000 RO’000
Salaries, wages and bonus 4,487 5,395
Allowances and other benefits 2,650 2,969

7,137 8,364
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9 Income tax
2020 2019

RO’000 RO’000

Income tax expense comprises of the following:

Current taxation charge:

Current tax expense 561 1,818

Deferred taxation:

Deferred tax for the year (note 12) (68) 108

493 1,926

The Company is liable to income tax in accordance with the income tax law of the Sultanate of Oman at the enacted tax 
rate of 15% on taxable income. For the purpose of determining the tax expense for the year, the accounting profit has been 
adjusted for tax purposes relating to both income and expense items. After giving effect to these adjustments, the average 
effective tax rate is estimated to be 18.2% (2019: 14.9%).

Tax provision movement is as follows:

2020 2019
RO’000 RO’000

At 1 January 1,746 1,868

Income tax expense for the year 561 1,818

Paid during the year (2,025) (1,940)

At 31 December 282        1,746

The following is a reconciliation of income taxes calculated on accounting profits at the applicable tax rate with the income 
tax expense for the year:

2020 2019
RO’000 RO’000

Accounting profit before tax 3,077 12,913

Tax on accounting profit before tax at 15% (2019: 15%) 461 1,937

Add tax effect of:

Non-deductible expenses 32 (11)

Tax charge for the year 493 1,926

The Company’s tax assessments for the years 2013 to 2016 have been completed. Assessments for 2017 to 2019 have 
not yet been assessed by Oman taxation authorities. The management consider that the amount of additional taxes, if any, 
that may become payable on finalisation of assessment of the open tax years would not be significant to the Company’s 
financial position at 31 December 2020. 
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10 Property, plant and equipment

Buildings
Plant and

equipment
Motor

vehicles

     Capital
work-in-
progress Total

RO’000 RO’000    RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Cost:

1 January 2019 17,397 72,698 689 8,629 99,413

Acquisitions 1,049 943 - 11,947 13,939

Disposals - - (376) - (376)

Transfers to intangible asset - - - (85) (85)

Transfers 3,251 3,889 - (7,140) -

1 January 2020 21,697 77,530 313 13,351 112,891

Acquisitions - - - 2,628 2,628

Disposals - (77) - - (77)

Transfers to intangible asset - - - - -

Transfers 3,606 5,475 - (9,081) -

31 December 2020 25,303 82,928 313 6,898 115,442

Depreciation:

1 January 2019 3,656 47,653 689 - 51,998

Charge for the year 901 3,271 - - 4,172

Relating to disposals - - (376) - (376)

1 January 2020 4,557 50,924 313 - 55,794

Charge for the year 1,114 3,670 - - 4,784

Relating to disposals - (18) - - (18)

31 December 2020 5,671 54,576 313 - 60,560

Net book value

31 December 2020 19,632 28,352 - 6,898 54,882

31 December 2019 17,140 26,606 - 13,351 57,097

The Company’s depots, buildings and lubricant blending plant are constructed on land leased from the Ministry of Oil and 
Gas based on a lease agreement renewed on 1 November 2019 expiring in 25 years (note 22).
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11 Intangible assets

2020 2019
RO’000 RO’000

Cost
At 1 January 5,511 5,426

Transfer  - 85
At 31 December 5,511 5,511

Amortisation
At 1 January 5,334 5,159
Charge for the year 108 175
At 31 December 5,442 5,334

Carrying amount
At 31 December 69 177

Intangible assets represent costs incurred in connection with the acquisition, development and implementation of an 
Enterprise Resources Planning system and other computer software and is amortised over a period of five years. 

12 Deferred tax liability

Deferred income taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using a principal tax rate of 
15% (2019: 15%). 

The deferred tax liability recognised in the statement of financial position is attributable to the following:
At

1 January
Charge / (credit) for 

the year (note 9)
At

31 December
RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

2020
Provision for obsolete inventory 135 (23) 112
Provision for impairment 1,472 40 1,512
Employee redundancy provision 292 (292) -
Provision for employee retention scheme 255 (66) 189
Other provisions - 75 75
Depreciation (2,088) (650) (2,738)
IFRS 16 adjustment (864) 1,372 508
Deferred tax liability @ 15% (120) 68 (51)

At
1 January

Charge / (credit) for the 
year (note 9)

At
31 December

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000
2019
Provision for obsolete inventory 178 (43) 135
Provision for impairment 1,096 376 1,472
Employee redundancy provision - 292 292
Provision for employee retention scheme 278 (23) 255
Depreciation (1,634) (454) (2,088)
IFRS 16 adjustment - (864) (864)
Deferred tax liability @15% (12) (108) (120)
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13 Inventories

2020 2019

RO’000 RO’000

Petroleum products 3,354 4,201

Raw materials 3,404 3,136

6,758 7,337

Provision for slow moving inventories (112)          (135)

6,646 7,202

Movement in the provision for slow moving inventories is as follows:

2020 2019

RO’000 RO’000

At 1 January 135 178

Reversed during the year (23) (43)

At 31 December 112 135

Provision for slow moving inventories have reversed during the year due to inventories being sold during the year.

14 Trade and other receivables

2020 2019

RO’000 RO’000

Trade receivables 31,236 55,974

Less: allowance for expected credit loss (1,512) (1,472)

29,724 54,502

Receivables from related parties (note 26) 1,792 3,310

Trade and related party receivables, net of impairment loss 31,516 57,812

Prepayments 1,470 1,439

Other receivables 915 1,045

33,901 60,296

As at 31 December 2020, trade receivables of RO 1,512 thousand (2019 – RO 1,472 thousand) were impaired and 
provided against. Movements in the allowance for expected credit loss is as follows:

2020 2019

RO’000 RO’000

At 1 January 1,472              1,096

Provided during the year 40             376

At 31 December 1,512 1,472
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14 Trade and other receivables (continued)

As at 31 December 2020, the ageing of trade receivables is as follows:   
  

Non - Government
Total

RO’000
Current

RO’000
< 30 days

RO’000

31 - 180 
days

RO’000
> 180 days

RO’000

Weighted average loss rate 0.06% 0.93% 9.01% 66.9%

Gross carrying amount 20,605 16,826 933 806 2,040

Expected credit losses 1,457 10 9 72 1,366

Net carrying amount 19,148 16,816 924 734 674

Government

Weighted average loss rate 0.09% 1.39% 0.15% 1.10%

Gross carrying amount 10,631 3,232 107 3,146 4,146

Expected credit losses 55 3 2 5 45

Net carrying amount 10,576 3,229 105 3,141 4,101

2020 29,724 20,045 1,029 3,875 4,775

As at 31 December 2019, the ageing of trade receivables is as follows:   

Non - Government
Total

RO’000
Current

RO’000
<30 days

RO’000
31-180 days

RO’000
>180 days

RO’000

Weighted average loss rate 0.04% 2.22% 4.46% 62.78%

Gross carrying amount 29,568 24,579 832 2,381 1,776

Expected credit losses 1,419 9 18 106 1,286

Net carrying amount 28,149 24,570 814 2,275 490

Government
Total

RO’000
Current

RO’000
<30 days

RO’000
31-180 days

RO’000
>180 days

RO’000

Weighted average loss rate 0.02% 0.09% 0.07% 0.74%

Gross carrying amount      26,406  10,098 3,459    7,199 5,650

Expected credit losses 53    2 3   5 43

Net carrying amount      26,353       10,096       3,456        7,194       5,607

2019 54,502 34,666    4,270    9,469     6,097

The amounts are considered to be due within 3 to 45 days from the date of invoice for all customers and the vast majority 
are unsecured. Unimpaired receivables are expected, on the basis of past experience, to be fully recoverable.

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets. The maximum exposure to credit risk 
at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above.
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15 Cash and cash equivalents

2020 2019

RO’000 RO’000

Bank balances 1,175 245

Deposit accounts 3,432 7,268

Cash and cash equivalents 4,607 7,513

Included in deposit accounts are call deposits of RO 2,232 thousand (2019 - RO 4,377 thousand) denominated in Rial 
Omani and RO 1,200 thousand (2019 - RO 2,891 thousand) denominated in US Dollars, with commercial banks in 
Oman. These are short term in nature and carry interest at commercial rates. The management believes that the ECL is 
immaterial to the financial statements as a whole.
 
Bank balances and deposit accounts are placed with reputed financial institutions. Hence management believes that the 
credit risk with respect to these balances is minimal. 

16 Share capital

The Company’s authorised, issued and fully paid-up share capital consists of 100,000,000 shares of 100 baisa each 
(2019 - 100,000,000 shares of 100 baisa each) as follows: 

2020 2019

RO’000 RO’000

5,000,000 Multi-vote shares of 100 baisa each 500 500

95,000,000 Ordinary shares of 100 baisa each 9,500 9,500

10,000 10,000

In accordance with Article 6 of the Company’s Articles of Association, the holder of each multi-vote share is entitled to two 
votes at the annual general meetings of the Company.

17 Significant shareholders

At 31 December, shareholders owning more than 5% of the Company’s share capital are as follows:

Number of shares % of holding

2020 2019 2020 2019

Multi-vote shares

Shell Overseas Investments BV 5,000,000 5,000,000 5% 5%

Ordinary shares

BV Dordtsche Petroleum Maatschappij 18,700,000 18,700,000 19% 19%

Shell Overseas Investments BV 15,000,000 15,000,000 15% 15%

Shell Petroleum NV 10,100,000 10,100,000 10.1% 10.1%

Civil Service Employees Pension Fund 9,929,892 9,720,814 9.9% 9.7%

Public Authority for Social Insurance 8,050,662 7,994,181 8.0% 8.0%

MOD Pension Fund 7,343,306   8,247,648 7.3% 8.2%
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18 Legal reserve

Commercial Companies Law promulgated by the Royal Decree No. 18/2019 (the Commercial Companies Law of the 
Sultanate of Oman), as amended requires that 10% of a Company’s net profit be transferred to a non-distributable legal 
reserve until the amount of legal reserve becomes equal to at least one-third of the Company’s issued share capital. Since 
the amount of legal reserve has exceeded one-third of the Company’s share capital, no further transfers have been made 
during the year. This reserve is not available for distribution.

19 Employees’ end of service benefits

2020 2019

RO’000 RO’000

At 1 January 271 269

Charge for the year 36 38

Paid during the year (6) (36)

At 31 December 301 271

20 Bank Borrowings 

(a) The Company obtained a long-term loan (the facility) from an Omani commercial bank on 7 May 2018. The 
committed facility limit is RO 10 million. The loan is payable in three tranches of RO 3.333 million beginning 2021. 
The loan is unsecured and carries interest at 1.5% plus Government of Oman’s one month T-bill rate.

(b) The carrying amount of the Company’s short term loan is denominated in Rial Omani. The short term loan is 
unsecured, carries interest at a commercial rate. The Company has adequate facilities with local banks to repay 
/ rollover the loan within 12 months to meet its ongoing business requirements. Interest will be paid based on the 
maturity date.

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities:

1 January 2020 Cashflows 31 December 2020

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Long term loan 6,000 4,000 10,000

Short term loan 11,000 (11,000) -

17,000 (7,000) 10,000

1 January 2019 Cashflows 31 December 2019

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Long term loan 6,000 - 6,000

Short term loan 15,000 (4,000) 11,000

21,000 (4,000) 17,000
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21 Trade and other payables

2020 2019

RO’000 RO’000

Trade payable 32,662 46,908

Accrued expenses 5,385 9,017

Other payables 483 1,003

Payable to related parties (note 26) 1,473 2,923

40,003 59,851

22 Leases

The Company has lease contracts for various land on which their filling station, depots, office and bulk storage facilities 
operates. The lease terms are typically between three and twenty-five years. One land lease is valid for the duration of the 
Company. The Company’s obligations under its leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets. 

The Company also has certain leases with lease terms of 12 months or less and leases with low value. The Company 
applies the ‘short-term lease’ and ‘lease of low-value assets’ recognition exemptions for these leases.

Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during the year:

Land Ship Total

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

At 1 January 2019 24,486 - 24,486

Additions 3,376 - 3,376

Depreciation expense (2,613) - (2,613)

At 31 December 2019 25,249 - 25,249

Additions 4,264 3,196 7,460

Remeasurement 687 - 687

Depreciation expense (3,046) (595) (3,641)

At 31 December 2020 27,154 2,601 29,775

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the year:
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22 Leases (continued)

2020 2019

RO’000 RO’000

At 1 January                                                                                              24,386 23,122

Additions 7,460 3,376

Other movements/remeasurement 120 -

Accretion of interest (Note 6) 1,309 1,126

Payments (4,130) (3,238)

29,145 24,386

Current 3,375 1,923

Non-current 25,770 22,463

The following are the amounts recognised in statement of comprehensive income: 

2020 2019

RO’000 RO’000

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 3,641       2,613

Interest expense on lease liabilities (note 6) 1,309       1,126

Expense relating to short-term leases 23                   20

Expense relating to leases of low-value assets          -           6

Variable lease payments 12                11

4,985          3,776

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities:

1 January 
2020 Cashflows Others

31 December 
2020

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Lease liabilities 24,386 (2,821) 7,580 29,145

1 January 
2019 Cashflows Others

31 December 
2019

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Lease liabilities 23,122 (2,112) 3,376 24,386
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23 Provision for employee retention scheme
          

2020 2019

RO’000 RO’000

At 1 January                                                                                              255              278

Provided during the year 61 102

Less: Paid during the year (127) (125)

At 31 December 189         255

The Company has an employee retention scheme designed to enhance benefits to certain employees. The associated 
provision has been created by charging to the statement of comprehensive income and is expected to be utilised after 
three years of employment in accordance with the scheme.

24 Basic and diluted earnings per share

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share at 31 December 2020 is based on profit for the year attributable 
to ordinary shareholders of the Company by weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year 
ended 31 December 2020 as follows:

2020 2019

RO’000 RO’000

Profit for the year 2,584 10,987

Weighted average number of shares outstanding as of 31 December (‘000)                                                                                 100,000 100,000

Basic earnings per share 0.025 0.110

No figure for diluted earnings per share has been presented as the Company has not issued any instruments which would 
have an impact on earnings per share when exercised.

25 Dividends paid and proposed 

Dividends paid
During the year, dividends of RO 0.066 per share (2019 - RO 0.072) per share totalling to RO 6,600,000 relating to 
2019 were declared and paid (2019 - RO 7,200,000 relating to 2018 were declared and paid).

Proposed dividend
The Board of Directors at their meeting dated 8 February 2021, have proposed nil dividend is paid for the year ended 
December 2020 (2019 – RO 6,600,000).   

Dividend per share
The calculation of dividend per share is based on proposed final dividend totalling RO Nil and 100,000,000 shares. In 
2019 the final dividend amounted to RO 6,600,000 for 100,000,000 shares.
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26 Related party transactions

The Company has entered into transactions with subsidiaries of the ultimate parent and entities over which certain 
directors are able to exercise significant influence. Terms of these transactions are approved by the Board of Directors and 
Shareholders. 

(i) The transactions with related parties included in the statement of comprehensive income were as follows:

2020 2019

RO’000 RO’000

Group companies:

Sale of goods 16,123 30,702

Purchase of goods and services 10,959 12,976

Service and trademark licence fees 1,912 2,396

Other related parties:
Sales of good 5,375 2,720

Purchase of goods and services 30 -

During year the total revenue from related party sales amounted to approximately RO 21 million (2019 – RO 33 million). 
Related party sales associated with companies controlled by the Shell Company relate to sales of lubricants and aviation 
fuel. Other related party sales relate to sales to entities that are controlled by the directors of the Company. Related party 
purchases were from companies controlled by the Shell Group of Companies and were primarily for supply of Petroleum 
Products.  

During the year, none (2019 - none) of the Company’s directors were employees of the Company. 

During the year eleven (2019 - ten) non-executive directors earned an aggregate amount of RO 84,200 (2019 - RO 
157,600) in respect of meeting fees and director’s remuneration.

(ii) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of key management during the year were as follows:

2020 2019

RO’000 RO’000

Short-term benefits 698 772

Employees’ end of service benefits 23 22

721 794

(iii) Amounts due from and due to related parties are disclosed in notes 14 and 21 respectively.

(iv) Outstanding balances at the year-end arise in the normal course of business. No provision for impairment has been 
made for 2020 and 2019 in respect of amounts due from related parties.
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27 Net assets per share

The calculation of net assets per share is based on net assets at 31 December 2020 in the amount of RO 49,889 thousand 
(2019 - RO 53,905 thousand) and 100,000,000 shares (2019 - 100,000,000 shares).

28 Financial instruments 

The accounting policies for financial assets have been applied to the line items below :

2020 2019

RO’000 RO’000

Assets at amortised costs

Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) 32,431 58,857

Cash at bank and in hand 4,607 7,513

37,038 66,370

The accounting policies for financial liabilities have been applied to the line items below :

2020 2019

RO’000 RO’000

Liabilities measured at amortised costs

Trade and other payables 40,003 59,851

Long term and short-term loans 10,000 17,000

50,003 76,851

29 Contingent liabilities and commitments

(i) Contingent liabilities

a) Guarantees
At 31 December 2020, the Company has issued guarantees arising in the ordinary course of business, from 
which it is anticipated that no material liabilities will arise, amounting to RO 5,212 thousand (2019: RO 1,937 
thousand) in respect of contract performance.

b) The Company is subject to litigations in the normal course of business. The Company based on independent 
legal advice does not currently believe that the outcome of these court cases will have material impact on the 
Company’s income or financial position. 

(ii) Commitments

At 31 December 2020, the Company has future capital expenditure commitments amounting to RO 8,626 thousand 
(2019 - RO 13,504 thousand).
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30 Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures for the prior year have been reclassified, where necessary, in order to conform to the current 
year’s presentation. Such reclassification did not result in changes to the previously reported total comprehensive income 
or equity.

31 Segmental information

Management has determined the Company’s operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Chief Executive 
Officer that are used to make strategic decisions.

The Chief Executive Officer identifies operating segments based on a business perspective. The reportable operating 
segments derive their revenue primarily from the sale of refined petroleum products. Retail sales amounting to RO 320.2 
million (2019: RO 416.3 million) represent the most significant component of revenue for the Company and no other 
segments are significant.
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32 Impact of COVID-19 outbreak

The COVID-19 outbreak has developed rapidly in 2020, with a significant number of infections. Measures taken by 
various governments to contain the virus have affected economic activity and the Company’s business in various significant 
ways.

The key impact of COVID-19 on the Company is the reduction in sales demand contributing to revenues for the year of RO 
367 million, down by 30% compared to prior year.

Depending on the duration of the COVID-19 crisis and continued negative impact on economic activity, the Company may 
experience compartively lower results than historical trend. 

The implications of COVID-19 are ongoing and the ultimate outcome of this event is unknown and therefore the full impact 
on the Company for events and circumstances that arose after the reporting date cannot be reasonably quantified at the 
authorisation date of this financial statements. The effect of COVID-19 on the Company, when known, will be incorporated 
into the determination of the Company’s estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, 
assets and liabilities.
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